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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

PROGRESSIVE NORTHWESTERN
INSURANCE COMPANY,

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendant,
Case No. 15-9267-JAR-KGG
V.

GABRIEL GANT,

Defendant/CounterclaimPlaintiff.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

Plaintiff Progressive Ndntwestern Insurance CompaffiProgressive”) filed this
declaratory judgment action seegia declaration that it fulfilleds contractual obligations in
good faith and without negligence under an insurance policy issued to Edward and Linda Birk,
whose son was involved in a vehicular homidiugt killed Kathryn Gant in June 2011.
Defendant Gabriel Gant, as assignee of the Biights against Progressive, counterclaims for
breach of contract/bad faith. This matter is before the Court on Gant’'s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment (Doc. 26Byogressive’s Motion for Surmamy Judgment (Doc. 266), and
the parties’ motions to strike or exclude eatter’'s expert witnesses (Docs. 264, 268, 270). For
the reasons explained in detail below, tloei denies Gant’s motion for partial summary
judgment, grants in part Progsdge’s motion for summary judgme and directs further briefing
under Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(f)(2).
l. Summary Judgment Standard

Summary judgment is appropigaif the moving party demotrates that there is no
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genuine dispute as to any material fact and that it is ehtdl@gidgment as a matter of lawin
applying this standard, the court views the enitk and all reasonable inferences therefrom in
the light most favorable to the nonmoving pért§There is no genuine issue of material fact
unless the evidence, construed in the light rfengirable to the nonmoving party, is such that a
reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving part.fact is “material” if, under
the applicable substantive law, it is “essalrtb the proper disposition of the claith.An issue

of fact is “genuine” if “‘the eviénce is such that a reasonabhy jcould return a verdict for the
non-moving party.’

The moving party initially must show the absemé a genuine issue of material fact and
entitlement to judgment as a matter of fawn attempting to meet this standard, a movant that
does not bear the ultimate burden of persuasion at trial need not negate the other party’s claim;
rather, the movant need simply point out to¢bart a lack of evidence for the other party on an
essential element of that party’s clainWhere the movant bears the burden of proof on a claim
or defense, it must show that the undispugedsf establish every elentai the claim entitling it
to judgment as a matter of I&w.

Once the movant has met this initial burdde burden shifts to the nonmoving party to

IFed. R. Civ. P. 56(akee also Grynberg v. Tot&l38 F.3d 1336, 1346 (10th Cir. 2008).
2City of Harriman v. Be|l590 F.3d 1176, 1181 (10th Cir. 2010).
3Bones v. Honeywell Int’l, Inc366 F.3d 869, 875 (10th Cir. 2004).

“Wright ex rel. Tr. Co. of Kan. v. Abbott Labs., |59 F.3d 1226, 1231-32 (10th Cir. 2001) (citikudier
v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc144 F.3d 664, 670 (10th Cir. 1998)).

5Thomas v. Metro. Life Ins. G&31 F.3d 1153, 1160 (10th Cir. 2011) (quotkglerson v. Liberty Lobby,
Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)).

8Spaulding v. United Transp. Unipa79 F.3d 901, 904 (10th Cir. 2002) (citi@glotex Corp. v. Catrett
477 U.S. 317, 322-23 (1986)).

"Adams v. Am. Guar. & Liab. Ins. C@33 F.3d 1242, 1246 (10th Cir. 2000) (citixdler, 144 F.3d at
671);see also Kannady v. City of Kiows00 F.3d 1161, 1169 (10th Cir. 2010).

8Celotex 477 U.S. at 331.



“set forth specific facts showing thtlere is a genuine issue for tridl. The nonmoving party
may not simply rest upon its pleadings to satisfy its butdeRather, the nonmoving party must
“set forth specific facts thatauld be admissible in evidence in the event of trial from which a
rational trier of fact could find for the nonmovast.”

The facts “must be identifidaly reference to an affidavi, deposition transcript, or a
specific exhibit incorporated thereit?” Rule 56(c)(4) provides thapposing affidavits must be
made on personal knowledge and shall set forth faath as would be aussible in evidencé®
The non-moving party cannot avoid summary juégt by repeating conclusory opinions,
allegations unsupported by sgfecfacts, or speculatiot.

Finally, summary judgment is not a “disfaedrprocedural shortti on the contrary, it
is an important procedure “designed to secueguht, speedy and inexpensive determination of
every action.*® In responding to a motion for surany judgment, “a pay cannot rest on
ignorance of facts, on speculation, or on suspiand may not escape summary judgment in the
mere hope that something will turn up at trigd.”

I. Uncontroverted Facts

The following material facts are uncontrovertadstipulated to for the purposes of

SAnderson477 U.S. at 256Celotex 477 U.S. at 324Spaulding 279 F.3d at 904 (citinilatsushita Elec.
Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Carpt75 U.S. 574, 587 (1986)).

Anderson477 U.S. at 256ccord Eck v. Parke, Davis & G&56 F.3d 1013, 1017 (10th Cir. 2001).

IMitchell v. City of Moore, Okla218 F.3d 1190, 1197-98 (10th Cir. 2000) (quotkader, 144 F.3d at
671);see Kannady590 F.3d at 1169.

2Adams 233 F.3d at 1246.
BFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(4).

Hd.; Argo v. Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Kan., I52 F.3d 1193, 1199 (10th Cir. 2006) (citation
omitted).

19d. at 327 (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P. 1).
16Conaway v. Smitt§53 F.2d 789, 794 (10th Cir. 1988).



summary judgment. On June 10, 2011, vehicles opeddby Justin Birk and Katie Gant
collided in Coffey County, Kams, resulting in Ms. Gant’s déat At the time of the accident,
Justin Birk was operating a 2007 Cadillac Escaladewias titled in the maes of his mother and
father, Edward and Linda Birk.

B&B Cooperative Ventures

B&B Cooperative Ventures, a General Parthgrg“B&B”), is the entity colloquially
referred to as “Birk Qil.*® It is a general partnership foeah under the laws of the state of
Kansas, including the Kansas Uniform Partnergttp There are two partners in B&B, each
with a 50% interest: Birk Qil, Inc. (owndxy Edward and Linda Birk) and Birk Petroleum
(owned by Brian and Laura BirkBrian Birk is Edward and LindBirk’s son; his wife, Laura,
is involved in the family business and isniiar with the issuance of insurance for the
company:®

Insurance Policies

The Progressive Policy

Progressive issued an Auto Insurancidyavith effective dates of March 22, 2011
through September 22, 2011, to named insuredsEtand Linda Birk (the “Progressive
Policy”). The Progressive Policy providesdily injury liability limits of $250,000 per

person/$500,000 per accident. The 2007 Cadillac &sealustin Birk was thing at the time of

YAs an initial matter, the parties have made the pramfesstermining the uncontroverted facts in this case
unnecessarily difficult for the Court. The parties have sét fbcombined total of 764 statements of fact. Rather
than stating that the fact is controeettand citing to those portions of tleeord on which it relies as required by D.
Kan. Rule 56(c), the parties often object to each otlatesnpt to color the testimony and argue that the facts
alleged are immaterial, followed by more arguments of counsel. These tactics on both sides areamgpitgpe
resulted in many pages of unnecessary briefing by the parties, much additional time and effoedey ¢mel
Court, and confusion for all.

18Doc 267, Ex. HH.
1%Doc. 281, Ex. 27 at 12:19-25.



the accident is a listed vehiaa the Progressive Policy. The Preggive Policy was sold to the
Birks through Trustpoint Ingance Agency (“Trustpoint”).

The Bitco Policy

Bituminous Casualty Insurance Company (i) issued a Comarcial Automobile
Policy to named insured B&B (the “Bitco Policy”), which provides a $1 million liability limit.
Birk Oil paid in excess of $30,000 a year in premiior the Bitco Policy coverage. Justin Birk
is not a listed driver nor is ¢2007 Cadillac Escalade a listedhiobe on the Bitco Policy. The
Bitco Policy was sold to B&Bhrough MRH Insurance Agency.

Progressive Investigation, Coverage Angkis, and Retention of Defense Counsel

The Birks’ claim arising from the fatalityollision was reported to Progressive on or
about June 13, 2011, and was ultimately assigned to Casualty Specialist Robert Hansel for
handling. Progressive conducted a factual ingasbn into the accident and concluded that
coverage existed under the Progressive PolRipgressive concluded, based on the police
report as well as the finding ah accident reconstructionistaaed by Progressive, that the
accident occurred on Ms. Gant’s side of the road.

On June 20, 2011, adjuster Hansel sentrietteboth Edward and Justin Birk, which
state in pertinent part:

At this time it appears that the damages may be in excess of your
coverage limits. . . Since you aresponsible for all damages that
may be awarded against you, you magide to retain an attorney
for your personal interests.

Please let us know immediatelyyibu have any insurance policies
that may provide coverage to youercess of this policy. If we do

not hear from you concerning such policies, we will assume that no
such policies exist®

20d., Exs. H, .



Neither Edward nor Justin Birk directly respondedProgressive’s letterlNo such letter was
sent to Linda Birk or Birk Oil.

Hansel testified that the intent of tlmsrrespondence was for the Birks to disclose any
policies that could prade additional coverage based og fthcts of the accident, whether
excess, umbrella, or any other p@ithat might come into pl&y. Hansel testified he
considered any other policiggat might come into play—whether household, business, policies
to other family members, and the like—“excess” over the Progressive auto policy that Hansel
considered to be the primary coverage for the accfdertnsel testified that he also contacted
Linda Birk about the existence ofher coverage and was told suich coverage existed; Linda
Birk does not recall any such discussion amstifted that if Progressive had asked what
insurance company insures the business tleaast her husband owned, she would have told
them Bitco. Hansel also contacted Trustpoirihtiuire if there wasray other insurance that
may provide coverage for the accident.

On June 21, 2011, Gant’s attorney, Dan Lyksest a letter to Bgressive asking, “What
insurance company insured the inesses that were owned by Edward and Linda Birk and any
business that was owned by Justin BifR2'ykins represented Gant from approximately June
21, 2011 to May 2012. On or about June 23, 2Ptdgressive retained attorney Kevin
McMaster to represent Justin Birk. McMaster’s representation ultimately expanded to include
Edward and Linda Birk and Birk Oil (collectivelfthe Birk Defendants”).Hansel testified that

once McMaster was retained, duyther correspondence or quesis were answered or sent

24d., Ex. E at 254:18-24.
2d. at 254:25-255:20.
ZDoc. 281, Ex. 39.



through him?*
Progressive evaluated potential damagseseiated with the claim, including non-
pecuniary damages up to the statutory $250,000 cap; medical bills; pecuniary losses such as loss
of services and support of Ms. Gant; and funexgenses. Progressive determined and reflected
in the claim file within eight weeks of the aceit that, based on the fact that Ms. Gant was a
31-year old mother of three and a high wagener, the claim hadvalue in excess of $5
million. Progressive accordingly concluded thatould offer its $250,000 liability limit to
settle the claim.

Tender of Policy Limit and Opportunity to Settle

Progressive tendered the $250,000 policy limit to Gasettle the clans related to the
accident no later than August 24, 2011, pursuaatlédter of that date from McMaster to
Lykins.2> Gant rejected the offer extended by Progressive.

On August 26, 2011, Lykins responded to Mdltés regarding the settlement offer and
requested Justin Birk execute an assets affidad swear under oathahthere was no other
available insurance coveragatitould apply to the accidefit.Lykins testified that his request
for the affidavit stemmed from McMaster and Halrtglling him that the Progressive Policy was
the only policy that covered the accident, arat there was no business, umbrella, or excess
insurance’

Gant had the ultimate decision-making authority whether to settle the underlying claim,

though he was consulting with family memberduding Katie Gant’s parents and his own

24d., Ex. 3 at 81:8-21.
25Doc. 267, Ex. ZZ.

29d., Ex. K.

2’Doc. 281, Ex. 6 at 22:6-12.



parents. Gant testified that he rejectedgPessive’s tender of it8250,000 policy limit because
he wanted more information, including investiga about other policiesHe explained that
Lykins had expressed “theveas nothing else that was goittgbe offered” above the
Progressive Policy limit and “it just felke there was more investigating to df§."Gant testified
he believed the value of the wrongful deeldim was worth substantially more than $250,000.

McMaster testified that he understood ttiet completion of the assets affidavit and
sworn statement of no other insurance covevagye conditions of settlement, and that if
additional insurance were to be disclosed, bald/not expect the proposed settlement for the
Progressive Policy limit would have been complétedlykins testified that McMaster told him
that the Birks did not have other insurarioeluding business insura@cand that McMaster
verbally told him over the phoribe contents of the affidaywhich McMaster would not
provide unless the case settfd.ykins also wanted Justin Bitk swear under oath whether at
the time of the accident he was, or was not, enctburse and scope osle@mployment with Birk
Oil because, even if Birk Oil did not have apphte insurance, Birk Oil had assets that could
compensate Gant for the lo8sMcMaster told Lykins that thaffidavit would reflect that Justin
Birk was not in the course and scope of his employment.

Lykins testified he believed the valuetbe case was between $5 to 8 million. Lykins
agreed that, even if an addital $1 million of coverage was ailable, that $1.25 million was far
below what he believed was the value of theecd3uring the time Lykins represented Gant, he

never made a claim against Birk Oil oniard and Linda Gant, only Justin Birk.

28d., Ex. 7 at 47:3-8.

2Doc. 267, Ex. F at 167:8-25.
30d., Ex. J at 23:14-24:10.

3Yd. at 28:17-29:1, 17:16-38:8.



Ultimately, the affidavit was never received bykins. Lykins testified that even if the
affidavit was returned and statatll of the terms required, rstill would not have recommended
settlement, but would have reqed a personal contribution frotne Birks over and above the
$250,000 Progressive Policy linift. Lykins testified that the amount of any personal
contribution by the Birks to settle the caseuld need to be atdst an additional $250,000
above the Progressive Policy liiit. McMaster never told Lykinghether the Birks would be
willing to make a personal contribution to settlem¥nt.

After Lykins was discharged, Gant wapresented by Wagstaff & Cartmell (the
“Wagstaff firm”) beginning in approximately June 2012. Between the date of retention and the
date the lawsuit was filed, no settlement demamdsfers to settle were made by the Wagstaff
firm on behalf of Gant. Th@/agstaff firm never indicateddhthe Progressive Policy limit
would settle the case. Mclgi@r communicated a settlemeifiier that included the $250,000
Progressive Policy limit as well as an offeptrchase Gant’s residence in Burlington, Kansas;
Gant did not accept the offer. Master testified that he repedty called counsel for Gant to
discuss settlement, and there was never any imaficiom the Wagstaff firm that any question
concerning the existence of other insweawas a factor ithe case not settliny. Hansel
testified that in 2011 through 2012, he followed uthwicMaster and Lykingvery thirty days

to try to settle the clair#f.

32d. at 74:17-75:18.

33d. at 81:14-82:10.

34d. at 79:3-17.

3Doc. 267, Ex. F at 201:25-202:11.
38d., Ex. E at 294:9-14.



Justin Birk Criminal Case

Justin Birk was criminally charged withuoluntary Manslaughter for his actions with
respect to the fatality dision. He retained counsel John Arobio with respect to the criminal
charges and, on March 5, 2013, entergdilly plea to “vehicular homicide.”

The Birk Lawsuit

On April 26, 2013, Gant filed a wrongful ded#wsuit in the District Court of Coffey
County, Kansas (the “Birk Lawsuit”). Gant ajled the fatality colli®n was caused by Justin
Birk, alleged a negligent entrustment claim agaEdward and Linda Birk, and a claim against
Birk Qil on the theory that the accittemay be imputed to the compaty.

The Birks’ Disclosure of Other Insurance

Edward and Linda Birk testified theyddnot put Bitco on notice of the accident
immediately because the Bitco Policy was issudBite Oil, and the Birks believed the accident
only involved Justin Birk personally, not the caang. Justin Birk’'s criminal attorney, John
Ambrosio, also sent a letter tioe Birks in April 2013, shorthafter the Birk Lawsuit was filed,
advising that they should place all of thigisurance carriers on tice of the accidenf No one
at Progressive advised the Birks they shouldonbBitco on notice of the accident. The Birks
believed, in conjunction with adw from McMaster, that thgitco Policy did not provide
coverage for the accident because Justin Birkned on the job at thteéme of the accident.

Hansel testified that he relies on the inguiee provide information concerning any other
potentially applicable insurae policies, and that if thesared does not disclose that

information, he does not know what other coverage there may be. Hansel also expected defense

$Doc. 6, Ex. E.
38Doc. 267 Ex. W.
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counsel hired by Progressive, as well as anyopaitscounsel advising the insureds, to counsel
the insureds about other applitmsurance, including insuranaegailable to any business that
could potentially be involve?f. After the underlying litigation was filed, Hansel
contemporaneously reflected in the claims nbaiesinderstanding that NMtaster was placing all
insurance carriers on notit®.Hansel looked into whether anther Progressive policies existed
that could provide coveragerfthe accident and found none.

Laura Birk testified that she did not doy¢hing to hide the existence of any insurance
policies and that she gave the Bitco Policy to McM&dStévicMaster reviewed several insurance
policies issued to one or mavéthe Birks, including the Bitco Policy, as well as a Commercial
General Liability policy issued to Birk Qil, a waers’ compensation policy issued to Birk Oil,
and a homeowner’s policy issued to Edward and LindaBitdcMaster testified he evaluated
whether the Bitco Policy provided coverdge the accident and concluded it did AdtOn May
10, 2013, McMaster sent a letterHansel, copying the Birks arldeir personalttorney, James
Campbell, which stated:

With the assistance of our clients’ personal counsel, we have
reviewed the insurance coverage available to the Defendants at the
time of the accident. It appearsthhe Progressive policy provides
the only coverage for this adent. Therefore, the Defendants

understand that the likelexposure of this cass in excess of the
applicable coverag¥.

39d., Ex. E, 85:6-22.

40d., Ex. D.

“Doc. 281, Ex. 27 at 17:15-21; 157:11-15.
4Doc. 267, Ex. F., 118:19-120:13.

43d. at 121:5-15.

“d., Ex. Y.

11



The Birks’ initial interrogatory responséndicated the onlypplicable insurance
coverage was the Progressive Bylbased at least in part MtMaster’s conclusion that the
Bitco Policy did not provideoverage for the accideft. McMaster testified that it was his
responsibility to assert legal objemns to discovery seeking the disclosure of liability insurance.
McMaster repeatedly represented to the t@airt that the only applicable policy was the
Progressive Policy because McMaster had reattteedonclusion, based on his review of the
Bitco Policy, that it did not appKf. At the January 23, 2014#hring concerning discovery
disputes, McMaster representedhe trial court that Gant had all the insurance coverage
required by statute, that the Bsrkvere not hiding any insuranceverage from anyone, and that
they had given Gant’s counsel information omiliy insurance that potentially covered the
accidentt’ At the hearing, the trial court statedjist know that if Birk Oil has an insurance
policy, you're going to have tgive it to the plaintiffs.*® The Birk Defendants were not present
at the hearing.

On February 26, 2014, the Birk Defendants ldsed to Gant via supplemental responses
to interrogatories the existencetbé Bitco Policy and other policié$.McMaster did not
forward the Bitco Policy to anyora Progressive until Februady 2015, when he explained that

“[a]fter suit was filed | reviewed thpolicies and confirmed no coverage.McMaster informed

49d., Ex. F., 156:8-15.

49d. at 154:16-22.

4Doc. 281, Ex. 16.

48d. at 18:15-17.

4Doc. 267, Ex. F, 129:2-132:6; Ex. YY.
50 d., Ex. Z.

12



the Birks there was no coverage under the Bitco Petiapd testified he still believes there is no
coverage afforded under the Bitco Poléy.

Neither Gant nor his counsel formally @itco on notice othe accident once the
existence of the Bitco Policy was disclosédSteven Pigg, an attornégter hired by Progressive
to represent Birk Oil, ultimatelglaced Bitco on notice in February 20°#50n March 13, 2015,
a Bitco representative preparediaternal report recommending taytto settle the case against
all parties for the policy limits available[

Rulings/Sanctions Against McMaster and/or the Birks

Monetary Sanctions Against McMaster Personally

The trial court ordered two rounds of monetsayctions against McMaster personally.
First, in the amount of $2,500 predicated upon @defants’ refusals to comply with discovery
and prior court orders® Second, in the amount of $5,000, peated on McMaster’s discovery
conduct with respect to LaaBirk’s deposition testimony. On August 26, 2014, McMaster
sent a letter to Hansel egphing that he had been saoncied and as a result of either
misrepresentations by either Laura Birk to McMasbr McMaster to the court, the trial court
stated he should either sit for godsition or withdaw from the cas& McMaster relayed that

the Birks were present at the hearing, did nquest he withdraw as counsel, and requested he

Shd.

52d., Ex. F at 371:24-372:13.
3d., Ex. N, Nos. 58-59.
5Doc. 281, Ex. 50.

59d.
5%Doc. 267, Ex. PP.
571d., Ex. QQ.

%8Doc. 281, Ex. 47.

13



pass this information on to Hansel for further discus3loRrogressive referred the matter to its
legal department, and Progressive ultimately detexdnto let McMaster continue as counsel of
record per the Birks’ wishes, and McMastet dot withdraw from the Birk Lawsuit.

Following the conclusion of the Birk LawsulNlcMaster appealed the $7,500 sanctions.
The Kansas Court of Appeals upheld the inmpms of sanctions, and stated: “the record
demonstrates that McMaster misled the coegiarding relevant evidence and delayed the
proceeding for month?

Gant never moved for sanctions regagdihe failure by McMaster or the Birk
Defendants to disclose the Bitco Policy.

Striking the Birks’ Cell Phone Expert

Gant filed a motion to strike the Birksell phone expert, Lance Watson, who the Birk
Defendants designated to offer testimony in suppicttieir theory that Kathryn Gant was using
a cell phone at the time of the atemnt. The trial court grantéglant’s motion as a discovery
sanction under K.S.A. 60-237, specifically Watsdaiture to produce at his deposition the two
reports that provided the evidanfor his expert investigati®?. The court did not permit any
evidence at trial related to thdegation that Ms. Gant was usihgr phone at or near the time of
the accident? The court also determined that Watson’s opinion was inadmissible because it is
unreliable under the stamdia set by K.S.A 60-456, as none of the traditi@elbertfactors
favor admission: “ the theory technique at issue has not béested; it has not been subjected

to peer review and publication; there is nmerate; and Mr. Watson had no knowledge as to

59d.

60d., Ex. 46.

61Doc. 267, Ex. SS at 2.
62d.

14



general acceptance in teeientific community.®® The court also expressed concerns about the
“Lantern” extraction program Wson used and inconsistenciedVatson’s testimony regarding
the information on which he reliéd. Finally, the court furtheexcluded Watson’s testimony
under K.S.A. 60-445 because such testimony would be more prejudicial than prbbative.

Requests for Admission

Gant propounded 538 Requests for Admissiaihéathree individual Birk Defendants.
McMaster objected to the Requests for Admission as improper, irrelewathon the basis that
defendants did not have theyuisite knowledge to answ&t.During a hearing on October 7,
2013, the trial court overruled McMaster’s oltjens. During a later hearing on April 24, 2015,
the trial court held that the Admissions wer timely answered and thus deemed them
admitted. Despite deeming the Requests for Admission as admitted, the trial court held that the
admissions would not preclude the parties fpmgsenting evidence on the issues referenced
therein®” Gant’s counsel sought to admit apdmately 375 Requests for Admission deemed
admitted at the close of trial.

Reverse Alter-Ego Sanction

After a November 17, 2014 hearing, after ngtihat the Birk Defendants engaged in a
“continuing course of providing untruthful, incect, and misleading responses to discovery,”
the court found:

The untruthful, incorrect, and sieading information set forth by

Defendants (such as information regarding the payment or the use
of funds from the corporation rfopersonal vehiels) relates to

63d.

54d. at2-3.

9d. at 3.

56Doc. 267, Ex. TT.

57d., Ex. BBB at 46:20—48:3.
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dispositive issues with regard to claims of “alter ego” and “course
and scope of employment;”

The information requested is not merely cumulative information.
Instead, it is extra information that was never provided initially and
was not provided until further iregence by the Court and imposition
of monetary sanctions;

Based on the testimony of Laura Birk and arguments by Defendants’

counsel, it is unclear whether tdéescovery has been provided to

date. Defendants continue to take the stance that prior requests, if

directed at Birk Oil Company, doot apply to B & B Cooperative

Ventures, a general partnership.thie Court were to accept that

proposition as true, all discovery would have to be resubmitted to

clarify prior discovery responsesgwided in this case. Thus, based

on Defendants’ arguments, this Cdumts that it is unclear whether

Defendants have provided dikcovery at this time;

Although alternative sanctions haaéready been ordered in this

case, they have not proven successful to deter the Defendants from

the conduct described abotfe.
The court found Defendants atieir counsel “have not shovmmoper candor with the Court on
the issue of the name of the corporate defenil@otighout the course of this case,” in an
apparent excuse for not complying with court ord&r¥he court found that there was no reason
to differentiate Birk Oil Comany from B&B Cooperative Ventas, a General Partnership, from
B&B Cooperative Ventures, LLOr B&B Enterprises, and fourttiose companies to be “one
and the same’® The trial court further found Birk OZompany to be the alter ego of Edward

and Linda Birk’! Accordingly, B&B would be jointly liable with Edward and Linda Birk on any

negligent entrustment judgment.

68d., Ex. UU at 2-3.
69d. at 3.

.

Ad.
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Progressive Retains New Courg for the Birk Defendants

In the fall of 2014, Birk Oil rained attorney Steven Piggrepresent their interests in
addition to McMaster. Progressive ultimatelyesgt to pay for attorney Pigg’s representation of
Birk Oil.

On January 26, 2015, McMaster’s office sent Khadetter statingplease see attached
Order regarding sanctions,” apparentjerring to the alter ego sanctiGnAfter receiving the
Order, Hansel requested a copy dtiluBirk’s deposition transcrigé. Alan Provorse, of
Progressive, responded with an drf@Hansel with “Please cathe on this one” included in the
subject line and inqting, “did we file clms and or getvg denials from the business commercial
auto pol and general liabl policy?” The next day, the claims ®stindicate that Progressive
would ask McMaster to copy and send files sdéigal department and to new counsel being
retained, Todd Barrett.

In February 2015, Progressivedd additional counsel to reggent the Birk Defendants.
Specifically, Progressive retained Todd Barretiegjoresent Edward and Linda Birk, and Brette
Hart to represent Justin Birk. Progressive requested McMaster to withdraw from the case, but
did not remove him at that time because the Birks were “adamant” that McMaster remain their
counsel, and Progressive was giyiconsideration at that time what the Birks wante@.

In February 2015, Todd Barrett and Steven Biggpared Pretrial Reports for Progressive

in anticipation of the upcoming June 1 trialBarrett and/or Piggrought to Progressive’s

"?Doc. 281, Ex. 55.

7d.

d., Ex. 56.

Id., Ex. 57.

®|d., Ex. 35 at 215:16-216:24.
Doc. 263, Ex. 48.
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attention events that had transpired in the Baiwsuit that Progressiwgas not aware of, which
made it appear that the trial court had lost confidence in McM&strogressive was not
advised until approximatelyebruary 2015 that hundredsrefjuests for admission propounded
to the Birks had been deemed admitted by thedoiart due to failure to timely answer thépn.

On April 3, 2015, Jean Kelly, Progressive'sr@arate Claims Attorey, sent McMaster a
letter terminating McMastdrom the underlying case as witbm Progressive’s panel of
defense counsel for its insuréfisKelly explained Progressi’s decision as follows:

This letter follows our conversati earlier this afternoon, in which
we discussed the concerns Progies has with respect to your
representation of our insuredsand your handling of th&ant v.
Birk matter. Those concerns include fhotential conflict of interest
inherent in your representing all ofir insureds, and the repeated
discovery sanctions from the raih—including, most recently, the
Court’s consideration of defauliggment against our insureds as a
sanction for perceived discoverylations. The Court’s ruling that
requests for admissions as to owureds Justin Birk, Edward Birk,
and Linda Birk have been deemed is also of deep concern, notably
those admissions by the Birks tlaistin was speeding, was left-of-
center, that Kathryn Gant is deceassd result of Justin’s material
deviation from the standard of caasd that Edward and Linda Birk
had knowledge of all of Jtig’s traffic violations.

| appreciate your coordinating theegting with the Birks . . . This
will give us the opportunity tanform our insureds about our
concerns with respeto this litigation, andunderstand what their
defense goals and desires are going forward.

We also discussed that at thisqipunfortunately we do not feel the
necessary trust, candor, andoperation exist heveen you and
Progressive for you to continuepresenting Progressive insureds
on our panel of defense counsel.

®Doc. 267, Ex. DD, 59:2-17.
d., at 128:15-130:3.
8Doc. 263, Ex. 40.
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Lastly, John Mullen will be calling yoto set up a time to speak with
you and your partners about the mattidressed in this letter, as
well as Progressive’s suggestiothat your firm notifies its
malpractice carrier about the sanctions and admissions in this
matters?
Kelly testified that “I thought itvas a good idea to report this t@ learrier and see if they would
be willing to partigpate in mediation®
Mediation is Unsuccessful
The parties mediated the case on April 2015. Progressive and Bitco offered $1.25
million, the total policy limits, and Gant respondselwould negotiate Whin a range of $6 to
$10 million8 Gant offered a number of reasons why he did not accept the $1.25 million
combined policy limits. Gant explained that bg time of mediation, he étt like we had a lot
of work into it at that point, and we were .getting close to trial so wihought . . . we kind of
just wanted to see it through,” and “let it play otft.Gant testified the settlement was
never as much [about] money asfealing of complédon, of all the
facts are gathered, that we were happy with . . . not pulling the
trigger too fast and not leaving anything incomplete. So enough
money is—I don’t—I wouldhot say that, that it was a money factor,
per s
Gant testified he wantedshday in court, wanted gtice, and wanted closuf®.
Gant further testified:
Q: [Gliven your desire to have closure, the facts determined in court
to protect your wife’s legacy, se@lstice, and you $a all of those

things existed throughout the casethere ever a time within the
litigation that $1,250,000 wouldave settled the case?

8.

82Doc. 281, Ex. 35 at 225:13-16.
83Doc. 267, Doc. O.

84Doc. 281, Ex. 7 at 82:11; 84:8-10.
89d. at 79:12-80:1.

86|d. at 87:7-23-89:15-23.
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A: | couldn't say either wa§’
When asked if the $1.25 million combined policy limits had been offered in 2011, Gant indicated
it was “likely” he would still want his lawyers o an investigation intother assets the Birks
might have that could potentially be recovetadt, it depended on whether it “felt complete” that
all of the insurance polies had been disclosé¥.

Lykins testified that if he had been tdteere was another million dollars available, he
probably would not have insisted a personal contribution from ®erd and Linda Birk or Birk
Oil when Progressive initially tendered its Policy liffitLykins testified that “I would have
settled the case for $1,250,000 if Mr. McMastewwd have given me the proper informatidh.”

The Agreement, Assignment, and Covenant Not to Execute

Gant and the Birk Defendants entered moAgreement and Assignment of Rights and
Claims (the “Agreement”) against Bitco and&ressive, and Covenant Not to Execute, dated
May 11, 2015 The Agreement was entered into ptimthe June 2015 tiizand the parties
agreed to submit the case for decision to Judge Godderz:

Judge Godderz will make indepeamd determinations regarding
fault and damages based on the ernak and witnesses identified in
this case at the time the pretrial order is entered. Liability will be
determined based on objective evidence such as law enforcement
reports and testimony, witness testimony and statements, and
accident reconstruction reportsddor testimony. Damages will be
determined based on objective evidesuch as medical and funeral

bills, economists’ reports, witse testimony and other relevant and
necessary evidence. Judge Goddelizserve as the trier of fact and

8Doc. 267, Ex. L at 90:6-12.
88d. at 76:24-77:13.

89Doc. 281, Ex. 6 at 126:5-17.
9d. at 135:15-18.

%Doc. 267, Ex. KK.
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will enter judgment that he believes to be fair, reasonable and
supported by the evidené®.

The parties further agreed that Gant wouldate proceedings in his own name against
Progressive to collect the unpdidlance of the judgment atitat the Birk Defendants would
bear no cost in the prosecution of such proceedih@he Birk Defendants assigned Gant the
$250,000 Progressive Policy limit and the $1 million Bitco Policy I#hiT.he Birk Defendants
further assigned Gant “any and all of their tggagainst Progressiverforeach of contract,
negligence and/or bad faith, and agree[d] to codpdudly in subsequent proceedings to enforce
those rights and, when asked, give a statemd@dnt’s| attorneys, produce documents, appear
at hearings and/or depositis, and testify truthfully® As consideration for the policy
assignments, Gant agreed not to executidi@judgment against the Birk DefendaiftsThe
Agreement further provides that it will enable Gant “to expedite prosecution of a negligence
and/or bad faith action against Progressife.”

Counsel for the Birk Defendants sought tongdiability at trial, but Gant’s counsel
objected because admitting liability would mnstrued by Gant as a breach of the Agreement
because the Agreement “clearly requires liaaility be determined by the Court based on

objective evidence presented at a contested tfal.”

2d. 7 1.

%d. 1 2.

%d. 11 3, 4.

Sid. 1 4.

%d. 1 5.

d. 7 14.

%Doc. 267, Ex. Il.
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McMaster Withdrawal

McMaster resisted Progressive’s effortsgmove him from the case. On April 9, 2015,
McMaster wrote Progressive advising that the KBichose not to discharge me as their counsel
of record at this time*® On May 1, 2015, J. Nick Badgerow, a lawyer retained on behalf of
Progressive to collect McMastei&ogressive files, sent a lettto McMaster explaining that
“the client files belong to #hclient, and should be promptigturned on request, without
condition.’2®
On May 15, 2015, John Mullen of Franke Shélt¥ullen, on behalf of Progressive,
sent a letter to Edward and LinB&rk explaining that he haoeen retained by Progressive, and
was responding to an alleged request from Mad. lrs. Birk to allow Mdaster to direct and
lead the defense of their case at trial:
Prior to signing this AgreemenBrogressive acquiesced to your
recent request to allow Mr. McMastex direct and lead the defense
of this matter. Progressive did Because it believed that you should
be permitted to direct the choice of counsel and direct the defense
strategy since you would be responsible for any excess judgment.
However, as a result of your execution of The Agreement,
Progressive is the only entityoin which the judgment may be
collected. Therefore, Progressigeno longer willng to allow you
to direct Mr. McMaster to take ¢hlead in defending this case or
directing defense strateg$:

McMaster responded to McMullen on behaltlo¢ Birks on May 19, 2015, stating, in part, “We

agree that Progressive, in a timely manner, affé@seliability limits and undertook other actions

in an attempt to secure a reée. We disagree with your satent that, prior to signing the

9d., Ex. FF.
100Dpc. 263, Ex. 9.
10Y4d., Ex. 28.
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[A]lgreement, Progressive acquiesced and alloMedvicMaster to direcand lead the defense
of this matter.02
On May 20, 2015, Steven Pigg sent a letbefohn Mullen stating as follows:

| have consulted further with Berd, Linda, Brian and Laura Birk
following the May 19, 2015 letteyou received from Kevin
McMaster in response to your letters dated May 15, 2015 to the
Birks. Based upon my advice, aatter further consideration, the
Birks trust that Progressive . . . will not take any action that will
jeopardize the Birks’ benefits undde Agreement and Assignment

of Rights and Claims Against BITZ. . . and Progressive. . . and
Covenant Not to Execute and therefore agree that the defense of the
pending lawsuit against them be directed by Progressive. . . They
also understand that Progressive has determined strategically to
defend only the damage claim and waive liability defenses. They
also understand that Progressive had determined that Kevin
McMaster should not represent ttiefendants at trial. Accordingly,

the Birks will ask Kevin McMaster teithdraw as counsel of record

for all of the defendants in the pending lawsuit. The Birks
acknowledge their agreement toogressive directing the defense
and trial by their signatures to this lettet.

Also on May 20, 2015, Progressive filed a Motion to Intervene in the Birk Laf#$uit.
Attached as an exhibit was a M to Disqualify and/or Congd Withdrawal of Defendants’
Attorney, Kevin McMaster. Progressive explainedhe trial court that because of concerns
regarding McMaster’s handling of the Birk Lawstiithad retained otheounsel to represent the
Birk Defendants®® In the Motion to Disqualify andt Compel Withdrawal, Progressive
represented, in part:

In August 2011, Progressive offdrés entire policy limit in an
attempt to settle the claim against [D]efendants.

109d., Ex. 29.

103D pc. 281, Ex. 28.
104Doc. 6, Ex. E.
109d. at 2.
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Initially, Progressive engaged Kevin McMaster to represent all
Defendants. However, because of concerns regarding his handling
of the case as hereinafter desatdibBrogressive has retained other
counsel to represent the DefendaRimgressive has requested that
Mr. McMaster withdraw, but he has refused.

Progressive has retained new couf@eDefendants: attorney Steve
Pigg on behalf of Birk Oil Compey; Brette Hart on behalf of
Defendant Justin Birk; and Todgkarrett on behalf of Defendants
Edward and Linda Birk.

As the Court is aware, Defendants have been and continue to be
represented in this ritar by Mr. McMaster.

On or about May 11, 2015, Defendants execu@tean v. Fleming
agreement with Plaintiff. Pursuant to the terms of this agreement,
defendants have no personal exposure for any judgment rendered
herein and any judgment renderedeitess of the liability policy

may only potentially be collected fromrogressive. Pursuant to the
terms of this agreement, Defendants have no personal exposure for
any judgment rendered herein. ked, Plaintiff has agreed to
pursue only Progressive for amdpment rendered in excess of the
liability policies.

As the Court is also aware, Mr. McMaster has been repeatedly
sanctioned and required to compengdgentiff and/or their counsel

for obstreperous conduct during digery, including being (in this
Court’s words) “obstructionist.”

Additionally, Mr. McMaser also failed taespond to hundreds of
Requests for Admission in this matter, to the extreme detriment of
Defendants.

At the August 22, 2014 discoverydreng, the Court indicated that
ordering Mr. McMaster to be removed from the case could be “an
alternative.”

Due to Mr. McMaster's conduct and handling of this matter,
Progressive has terminated M¥IcMaster's relationship with
Progressive as panel counsel for Progressive insureds and has
retained separate counsel for all defendants in this case.

Progressive has requested that MicMaster withdraw from his
representation of the Defendarnts this matter. However, Mr.
McMaster has refused and has stated to Progressive that Defendants
wish for him to continue. Mr. McMaster has thus continued to
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represent Defendants in a “persooalinsel” capacity, albeit at the
expense of Progressive.

Now that Defendants have entered into tBeenn v. Fleming
agreement, Defendants and their assets are no longer at risk in this
matter. Accordingly, Defendants are no longer the real party in
interest in this matter.

“Ordinarily the controlof attorneys’ conduct irrial litigation is
within the supervisory powers ofdftrial judge . . . except where a
purely legal issue isinvolved, a district court's order of
disqualification will be reversed only if the court has abused its
discretion.”Venters v. Seller93 Kan. 87, 92 (2011).

Additionally, Mr. McMaster whdy failed to timely respond to
Plaintiff's Requests foAdmission, despite the Court specifically
directing him to do so. These matters have been deemed admitted
and are highly prejudicial tDefendants and Progressive.

Mr. McMaster's repeated misconduct, in spite of the Court's
sanctions and admonishments, waats disqualification or other
removal of Mr. McMaster fronrepresenting Defendants in this
action.

Given that the professional rataship between Mr. McMaster and
Progressive has been irreparaddyered, Progressive has legitimate
concerns about Mr. McMaster’s involvement in this matter.

There has risen a significant pige between Progressive and Mr.
McMaster regarding not only his camted involvement in this case,

but defense strategy as well.oRr Progressive’s vantage point,
(especially in light of Mr. McMaster’s failure to timely respond to
the Request for Admissions tleby effectivey negating any
potential liability defense), thigrial is primarily about the
appropriate damages. Progressivigissifiably concerned regarding

Mr. McMaster’'s ability to effectively advocate on behalf of the
defense to minimize the damages awarded in any judgment in this
case which may be collected from Progressive.
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Progressive should be accordedrilgat to have competent counsel

of its choosing representing the dedants at the trial of this matter

since it is the only entity from which the plaintiff may seek to satisfy

a judgment rendered heréeff8.
In addition, Progressive cited multiple KansaseRwf Professional Conduct (“KRPC”) that it
believed McMaster had violated, trat were otherwise relevant to McMaster’s actions in the
Birk Lawsuit: KRPC 1.1 (Competenc&RPC 1.3 (Diligence); KRPC 3.1 (Advocate:
Meritorious Claims and Contentions); KRBQ@ (Advocate: Expeditig Litigation); KRPC 3.3
(Candor to the Tribunal); and KRPC 3.4iifaess to Opposing Party and Coun&¥l).

On May 22, 2015, McMaster filed a voluntavptice of Withdrawal from the Birk
Lawsuit® and on May 27, 2015, Mullen notified the triaurt that he was withdrawing the
Motion to Interveneg®

On June 24, 2015, Progressive filed a sinMation to Intervee for the purpose of
filing a motion to withdraw McMasteérom another pending civil lawsuitjaster Machinery
Transport v. Stowglll5-7993-CM-TJJ (D. Kan2}® That motion was later withdrawn and held
by the court as modt! In the motion to compel McMamts withdrawal in that case,

Progressive stated that it had terminated Msfiligs relationship witliProgressive as panel

counsel for Progressive ingals, but he had refused to withdraw from the é&s@rogressive

108d. at 8-12 (emphasis in original).
107d. at 10-11.

1%8pretrial Order, Doc. 259, 1 16.
0PDoc. 263, Ex. 37.

10d. Ex. 4, T 2.

d. Ex. 5.

H2q.
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asserted, “[b]ecause insurer holds the exclusgig to ‘employ and control’ counsel, they may
modify or change representation if necessats.”

The Underlying Bench Trial and Judgment

Per the Agreement, the case proceededdtnah trial before Judge Godderz in June
2015, which lasted five days. The Birks did notempat the trial. Gamgresented a substantial
amount of independent evidence to support lsisnd and requested more than $15 million in
damages.

At the end of trial, the court issued detaifgmtlings of fact and conclusions of law, as
well as judgment and verdict, from the befdthThe trial court’s findings of fact and
conclusions of law were summarized in atten thirteen-page Journantry and Judgment,
which was drafted and appravy all counsel in the ca$®. With respect to the liability of
Justin Birk in causing the accident and wrongksitth of Kathryn Gant, the trial court found that
“there is simply no evidence to support any ofeenario,” and specially cited the testimony
of three law enforcement officers and accident rep@teived into evidence, as well as the fact
that Justin Birk had pled guilty to vehicular homictd®e.Concerning the liability of Edward and
Linda Birk for negligently entrustg the vehicle to Justin Birk, thieal court concluded that they
were liable, finding the Birks knew about Jusihabitual carelessness and recklessness in
operating a motor vehicle, his prior bad drivinga®l including numerous traffic infractions or
arrests, the Birks’ payment of fines and leggdenses Justin accumulated for his offenses, and

the fact that the Birks had been named iniarprrongful death actiomvolving the entrustment

134,

14Doc. 267, Ex. LL.
19d., Ex. MM.

19d. at 4.
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of a vehicle to Justitt’ And with respect to the liabilitgf Birk Oil on the basis of respondeat
superior, the trial court found it was liable, citingparticular the fact #t Justin Birk told
responding officers he was on ay to work, Justin’s timecards on the date of the accident,
Justin’s work-related phone cattsade earlier that morning, and Birk Oil’'s expectation that an
employee is “on the job” when traveling to and from work sités.

Turning to damages, the trial court noted that “the most hotly contested aspect of the trial
was the issue of economic damages. The trial court awarded $4,368,067 for Kathryn Gant’s
lost earnings; $546,235 for lost household sesi$481,242 for loss of advice and counsel to
Gant and their children; and $1,027,47T\ientlingdamages$?® Gant requested $500,000 in
non-economic damages, including the state maximum of $250,000 for the pain and suffering of
the Gant family and $250,000 for the pain and suf§eof Kathryn Gant in the minutes she was
conscious prior to her death. The trial court awarded ¢lrequested $250,000 to the Gant
family, but only awarded $50,000 for Kathrynrda non-economic damages, based on a
calculation of $10,000 per minute for the approximately five minutes she was conscious prior to
her death?? The total award, based on these itz categories of damages, was $6,723'621.

The trial court stated that itéached all of the conclusions sttabove based on an independent

evaluation of the evidence presented at tfi#l.Further, the court’s “pricalter egoruling

H7d. at 5.
118d. at 5-6.
19d. at 7.
120d. 9-11.
124d. 11-12.
1224,

123d. at 14.
1244.
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stands as given, but as that issue was not ap#re trial, its impact on this judgment will not
be discussed in this Journal Entfg>’ Thereafter, no further judgent, amended judgment, or
other journal entry transferrdidbility from one defendant tanother based on the alter ego
sanction. The $1.25 million combined policy iirwas applied to the judgment, leaving
$5,473,021 unsatisfied.

Post-Trial Dispute over Fees

After Gant’s initial counsel Lykins was temated in May 2012 in favor of the Wagstaff
firm, Lykins filed a Notice of Attorney’s len that was later éhsubject of a motiott® After
trial, a dispute arose between Lykins andWegstaff firm concerning the amount of the fee
Lykins was entitled to, which lei a hearing before the triaburt. The Wagstaff firm took
issue with Lykins for failing to discover tha@11 financial statement reflected a net worth for
Birk Oil in excess of $15 millio?” In a letter dated Septemit®y 2015, Gant’s current counsel
also chastises Lykins for notsdiovering other insurance, assdhat statements by McMaster
were “equivocal in the extreme,” and specifigaites the Bitco Policy as an example of
something that Lykins failetb obtain on behalf of GaAt®

Resources Furnished to Defense Counsel by Progressive

The total legal bills submitted by McMaster tas work on behalf of the Birks were in
the amount of $202,038.19. Of that amount, Progregsid McMasterrad/or his law firm
$196,550.47. Progressive adjusted McMaster’s bills by $5,210.60, or 2.58% of the total bill.

Taking into account the four law firms ultimbténvolved in the defense of the Birks,

129,

128Doc. 267, Ex. NN.

127d., Ex. R at 2-3; Ex. OO.
128d., Ex. R at 2-3.
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Progressive paid a total $449,008.34, after adjustments twig 1.75% of the total amount
billed.

Recovery in Excess of Policy Limit

Gant and the Wagstaff firm entered into @n@act for Employment of Attorneys, which
provides, in part, that “For any recovery&#50,000 or less, [tlhe contingent attorney fee will
equal 25% (Twenty-five Percerdj the total amount recovered after all litigation expenses have
been reimbursed[.}¥® The Contract also providein part, that “[florany recovery greater than
$250,000[,] [t]he contingent attaew fee will equal 40% (Fortl?ercent) of the total amount
recovered after all litigationxpenses have been reimbursédy.”

Kevin McMaster

McMaster has been a practicing attorneyaih@884 and is licensed to practice law in the
State of Kansas. His license to practice hagmnkeen revoked, suspender curtailed in any
way. Since 1984, McMaster has practiced aviadefense trial lawyerwith a significant
portion of his practice ithe area of insurance defense. He has represented insureds for more
than a dozen insurance companies, includingpoNaide, Allstate, anEmpire Insurance.
McMaster has handled hundredditds involving serious baly injury and wrongful death
claims, including high-speed collisions.

McMaster testified he understood that, winned by an insurance company to defend an
insured, his client was the insdrand not the insurance compasy.When he was first retained
in connection with the fatalitgollision, McMaster understood hgésle client at that time was

Justin Birk. McMaster testifiethat at no point was he retainasl legal counsel to represent the

129d., Ex. N.
139,
13Yd., Ex. F at 26:8-16.
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interests of Progressive in comtien with the Gant/Birk accidentJaim, and lawsuit.

McMaster’s representation ultimatekpanded, and following institution of litigation he
also represented Edward anadla Birk as well as Birk @B&B Cooperative Ventures.
McMaster testified that throughotite course of the underlyingidjation, he understood that his
sole clients were the Birk Defendants, and Heabelieved he had a professional obligation to
zealously represent the Birk Defendants. Whéea# Progressive ever did anything during his
representation of the Birk Defendants tha&iy manner constrained his own independent
professional judgment as to how best to repretfeninsureds, McMaster answered, “Not that
I'm aware of. 32 McMaster answered “no” when askedhiére was anying that he wanted to do
in the defense of the Birk Defendants ie tinderlying case that Pregsive in any manner
limited or restricted or prevented him from doir{g.McMaster testified tht there is nothing he
wanted to do in representing his clients fhaigressive in any manner limited, curtailed, or
failed to approve, in the @#Birk case or any casé He testified that defending an insured is a
collaborative effort betweenriself and his insured-client®> McMaster testified he would not
allow any third-party payor, like an insurarm@mpany, to interferavith his independent
professional judgment as to how best to defend the instfredcMaster testified that
Progressive did not interfere, eithdirectly or indirectly, withthe representation he provided to

the Birks'®” McMaster testified that Progressivepided him with all of the resources he

132d. at 34:19:24.
133d. at 35:20-24.
B4d. at 40:19-25.
139d. at 41:1-11.
138d. at 41:12-18.
¥7d. at 42:8-18.
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needed to completely defend the BitR$.McMaster testified that Bgressive did not engage in
any conduct that in any mannearolved or resulted in either of the two instances where
McMaster was sanctioned monetatily the court for discovery viations, and that “Progressive
was not involved in providing the defense. Pregiee didn’t show up igourt. Progressive did
not answer any discovery. Progressdidn’'t oversee me showing updaurt or interact with me
and my clients in responding to discovety?”

Edward and Linda Birk believed that Justin Bivks not at fault fothe accident and they
believed McMaster carried out that message srdefense of the case, albeit unsuccessfully.
The Birks believed, and still believe, that Ju&irk was not on the job in his capacity as an
employee of Birk Oil at the time of the accidesmdd communicated this position to McMaster
and wished for him to advance thasjion in the underlying lawsuit.

McMaster testified that he was unawareny conduct by Progressive that ultimately led
to the alter ego sanction imposed by the trial cirMcMaster testified that the imposition of
monetary sanctions did not curtail or limit higli§pto provide a vigorous and effective defense
for the Birks. McMaster testified he is notaw of any damage that was caused to Edward and
Linda Birk by the alter ego sanction that otheemigould not have existedVicMaster testified
that he does not wait for approval from asurance company before doing what needs to be
done in a case, such as research or other ¥fsks.

Progressive’s Defense Counsel Guidelines set forth, in part:

Progressive expects counsel terexse independent professional
judgment in rendering legal services to Progressive insureds.

139d. at 40:13-17.
139d. at 63:13-64:23.
149d. at 87:6-88:7.
41d. at 257:5-258:3.
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Counsel should never allow anythi contained in these guidelines

to interfere with any ethical directive or obligation governing

conduct as defense counsel.

To the extent any local laws or rules conflict with any of the

provisions contained herein, the lblzav or rule shall govern. In the

event a bona fide dispute aridestween Progressive and defense

counsel as to how best to protebe interests of a Progressive

insured, Progressive will always defer to the independent

professional judgment of defense courtéel.
McMaster never allowed anything containedity insurance company’s defense counsel
guidelines to interfere witany obligation he had in the defense of his cliéhitdvicMaster
testified that he did not use or allow Progressive defense guidelines tariéztohat he did or
did not do in connection with defending the Bbkfendants; ratheMcMaster defended the
Birk Defendants to the best of his abilityeispective of the defense counsel guidelifigs.

McMaster testified he is aawe of nothing he wanted to do in the defense of the Birk

Defendants that was not approvy®dProgressive, and similarly, ieaware of no instance in
which Progressive curtailed or limited his alilib expend any amount of money in defense of
the Birk Defendant$®® McMaster further testified that, en if Progressive had not approved an
expense or otherwise curtailed McMaster’s espntation of the Birk Defendants, McMaster
would nevertheless have done whatbelieved he needed to do in order to fully defend the Birk
Defendantg#®

ProgressivadjusteHanse] who hired McMaster, testiftethat he does not direct

defense counsel and does not tell them what toadloer, he expects counsel to do whatever is

14Doc. 278, Ex. 7.

4Poc. 267, Ex. F. at 383:17-24, 386:8-23.
4d. at 384:10-385:15.

9d. at 387:14-388:24.

148d. at 387:25-388:4.
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needed within the scope of thegpresentation to represent the insureds, including investigating
issues of liability, damages, additional insurapckcies, and defending the insureds in a lawsuit
if one is filed!4” Hansel testified that McMaster halfimate responsibility for the direction,
control, and strategy employed irettlefense of the Birk Defendart8. Concerning the liability
defense prosecuted by McMaster on behathefBirk Defendants ithe underlying action,

Hansel testified that it is “not for me to sagtline should give up thatgument . . . that's a
discussion that he has to have with my insuaed, that's a discussion they decide to—on how to
best proceed*® Hansel does not get involved withretiting defense cosal’s legal strategy,

and not once in thirty years with Progresdias Hansel suggested to defense counsel they
should not pursue a stated legahtegy on behalf of an insur&y.

McMaster testified that hevaluated and considered thatential conflict of interest
between the Birk Defendants, and obtainedittewr conflict waiver when his representation
expanded to include Edward and Linda Birid Birk Oil in addition to Justin Birk!

McMaster testified that his general practice igxplain the potentialonflict to his clients,
advise them of circumstances in which a conhfimuld arise, and otherwise fully explain the
potential conflict to the client$? McMaster discussed the conflissue with the Birks and sent

a copy of the waiver to the Birks and theirgmnal counsel, James@pbell, and adjuster

14Doc. 267, Ex. E at 66:3-67:20.

148d. at 279:9-12.

9d. at 113:12-25.

59d. at 117:18-118:22.

BYd,, Ex. F at 54:22-55:6; 55:7-13; 112:13-25.
152d. 113:1-23.
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Hanselt>® The written waiver was faxed Rrogressive from Campbell’s offi¢& Campbell

did not enter an appearance in the lawsuit on bel#ife Birks, but was involved periodically to

consult on issues concerning the claiml éawsuit and copied on key correspondefite.

Progressive’s Notice of Issues with McMaster

Before Progressive hired him to defend Bikk Defendants, it hdhired McMaster on

numerous prior cases. Progressive receivedalesemplaints about McMaster prior to the

filing of the Birk Lawsuit, including:

In 2006-2007, a Kansas attorney infornkrdgressive he would not agree to a
settlement if Progressive planned to retdicMaster with regardo any aspect of
the settlement because McMasteknewn for causing delay and increased
expenses; McMaster remained on the caskfailed to appear at the settlement
hearing*>®

In 2009, the same law firm complainedRogressive that McMaster had refused
to schedule a friendly settlement hegtiwhich was characterized as a “common
problem with Mr. McMaster®®’ that lawfirm then filed a Petition in state court
asserting claims againstdgressive and McMaster foreach of contract and
against McMaster for tortious interference with a contfct;

Steve Brave, a lawyer in Wichita, Kass informed Progressive around the time

of the filing of the Birk Lawsuit that Mdaster was “not likely to act reasonably

153Doc. 267, Ex. JJ

%4,

PDoc. 267, Ex. P, 36:11-23; 41:10-22; 51:3-11.
156Doc. 281, Ex. 20.

7d., Ex. 21.

59d., Ex. 22.

35



and promptly” in getting a case settled, that McMaster was “wholly
untrustworthy,” and tha¥icMaster’s obstructionigictics were placing

Progressive’s insureds at substantial risk for an excess judgment, punitive
damages, and unnecessary litigation. The matter was ultimately resolved after the
attorney and Progressive agreed to wdhe friendly settlement hearing that

would have required McMxder’s participatiort>®

Progressive’s Relationship with McMaster

Progressive paid McMaster for the timeidgrwhich he reviewed and analyzed the
insurance policies in the Birk Laws@ind made coverage determinatiéi{sA May 1, 2013
entry in Progressive’s claimmotes states “Kevin jgutting all carriers on notice®* A May 13,
2013 letter from McMaster to Hansel statesy]ith the assistance of our client’s personal
counsel, we have reviewed the insurance coveragekable to the defendants at the time of the
accident. It appears that the Progressive pglioyides the only coverage for the accidéefit.”
On February 24, 2015, McMaster sent an étoahe Birks relaying a meeting between
McMaster and additional coundeigg, Barrett, and Hart, in whidficMaster refers to certain
individuals from Progressive as “[t]he boss¥s.”

When asked at deposition if he believed he kept Progressive “promptly and fully
informed of significant events” in the Birk Lawis, McMaster answered, “I timely responded to

all their inquiries, | reported in a fashion thagyheither had guidelines expectations, and |

159d., Ex. 24.
160Doc. 263, Ex. 10.
184d., Ex. 11.
162d., Ex. 12.
183d., Ex. 13.
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more importantly would report inem events that | thought tings that | thought it was
important for them to know!® McMaster testified that theason he details his plan of action
in writing is to make “the adjuster’s file look nicef®

Progressive’s Defense Coun&alidelines state, in part,ah“prior authorization is
required for more than one hour of resear¢h.Between February 2014 and January 2015,
McMaster sent four email requests to HarsdProgressive requesting approval for legal
research involving motions for summary judgremotions in limine, a motion for protective
order, appeal or mandamus related to thedgalt’s ruling on privieged communications and
sanctions, anB®aubertmotions. Hansel explained that Praggi@e requires its attorneys to seek
prior approval for any time spent on legal resbaand that although the@an do any research
they want, “if they want to be paid . . . theyrequired to seek approval of that time in
advance.¥®’ Hansel admitted, based on correspondence, that “Mr. McMaster certainly appears
to be of the view that he canmabve forward with this [requested] research until such time as he
receives approvall.}#®

Progressive’s Defense Coung&alidelines state, in part,ah“Once the claims rep has
received responses to writtdiscovery, has discussed the fethhandling with the handling
attorney, and all have agreed to the plaaation, oral discoverpghase activities are to

proceed.®® In February 2014, McMastsent a letter to Progressisetting forth depositions he

164d., Ex. 14 at 22:1-9.

18Doc. 291, Ex. C at 256:15-23.

168Doc. 278, Ex. 7.

"Doc. 263, Ex. 20 at 184:18-22; 185:14-19.
169d. at 183:9-13.

169d., Ex. 15.
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“request[s] taking” and asking Hansel tantact him to discuss his plan of actigh.

The Guidelines further state, “[a]ll motionsosild be discussed with the claims rep prior
to being initiated[.]t’* In July 2015, McMaster sent a ktto Hansel stating that he was
“considering” filing a motion asking for Gant bee sanctioned and an order to show cause why
Gant should not be found in contempt of cdt.

Progressive’s Defense Counsel Guidelinethtr state, “Claims management expects to
be involved in the decision-making on the ntken of any expert, whenever possibté®”

Between February and April 2014, McMaster wrotemailed Hansel requesting approval of a
damage expert, an economist, and a cell phone eXpert.

Gant offers examples of Progressive’sihjlpractices as evidea of its control over
McMaster, which Gant characterizes as “micraaging” which expensesgould be approved.

e McMaster billed for his time traveling “t[o] and from Garnett, Kansas for
arguments on various discovery disputes and scheduling confeténce.”
Progressive reduced the billable timatisig that “Per page 7 of the Claims
Billing Protocols, Progressive’s expectatiis that you will not charge for local
travel time within your firm’s geographiarea. Roundtrip travel time of one hour
or less is considered local travel. We will therefore reimburse at the approved

hourly rate, after therft one hour of travett*®

79d., Ex. 22.

74d., Ex. 15.

73d., Ex. 24.

73d., Ex. 15.

4d., Exs. 22, 26, 27.
1Doc. 263, Ex. 30.
1794,
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e Progressive failed to pay $176.40 of mileage because “Per page 7 of the Claims
Billing Protocols, mileage is not reimbursabté’”

e Progressive rejected a bill from Mchtar’s office for a $7 QuikTrip sub
sandwich purchased during a day of roumpdtravel to Tulsa, Oklahoma, for the
attorney’s attendance at a meeting vehaicellphone expert inspected the phone
that was in Katie Gant’s posssion at the time of the accidért.

e McMaster sent an April 9, 2014 email taoBressive stating that he was “busting
my but[t] to keep time and expenses dawthis case,” that Progressive’s “latest
write downs are unwarranted,” and thawtuld rather not bplaced in a position
of having to write everything down foulmission and then have someone hack
the heck out of it.” The email chain regts that McMaster called to apologize for
the tone of his email and that Progressupervisor Mark Campbell indicated
that the billing issue is “not an irddment on [McMaster’s] conviction to defend
our insureds¥’®

The Birks’ Relationship with McMaster

The Birks were pleased with the reprdséion provided by McMast, believed he had
the best interests of the family and family camyp at heart in his regsentation, and indicated
that McMaster kept the Birks ac@d about the lawsuit. In a kettto Progressive dated April 9,
2015, following a meeting with McMaster, Progressepresentatives, and the Birks, McMaster

expressed the Birk family’s thanks Progressive for the meetirigat the Birks believed that a

l77| d

178d., Ex. 31.
179d., Ex. 32.
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good defense had been provided in the case, ariitks’ belief that Mdaster’s representation
provided independent counsa provided by Kansas 1. The Birks initially resisted
McMaster’s withdrawal, but ultimaly consented. Edward Birk subsequently testified that he
was not informed that Progressive had filed théianao intervene with the trial court detailing
how McMaster had mishandled his case.

Linda Birk testified that once McMaster wiained as counsel, she relied on him to
defend the lawsuit and to coordinate whatevas needed with respect to insurance issues,
because “[w]e didn’t know anything® Linda Birk testified thashe does not recall McMaster,
in or around the period of June through Audi®11, ever asking her whinsurance company
insured the business that she and Edward &inked, and she would have told him if he
specifically asked that questiff. She further testified that Frogressive had asked her or
Laura Birk the same question in June 2@k would have provided that informatia.

Justin Birk testified he does not redadiving any discussiongith McMaster about
insurance coverage or polisithat may provide coveradf&.

Edward Birk testified that Progressivecenraged the Birks to sign the Agreement to

protect themselves and represdrteat Progressive would take responsibility for everything else

18Doc. 267, Ex. FF.

181Doc. 281, Ex. 4 at 71:6-12.
8d. at 63:24-64:9.

83d. at 63:1-15.

184d., Ex. 18 at 52:3-7.
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from there'®® The Birks’ personal counsel, James Campbell, also advised the Birks to sign the
Agreement® Edward Birk testified that Proggsive “saved the day” in doing 8.

1. Discussion

Progressive seeks a declaration that it futfilis contractual obligations to its insureds,
the Birks, in good faith and without negligendgant, as the assignee of the Birk Defendants,
alleges Progressive breached its insurance potinjract with the Birks and the duties arising
therefrom both directly and thugh the actions of counsel McMaster, and seeks to collect the
balance of the $6,723.021 judgment against the Birk Defendants.

A. Overview of Insurer Bad Faith

“Inherent in virtually evey contract—including an insunae policy—is the duty of all
parties to perform their conttual obligations in good faith?® “In the context of a liability
insurance contract, an insurer must exerg@ed faith in defendig the lawsuit and in
negotiations related to settlemeft?” Under long-standing Kansasvaan action to address an
insurer’s alleged breach of the duty to acgaod faith in defending and settling a claim against
its insured sounds ioreach of contracdf® The elements of a breach of contract claim are: (1)
the existence of a contracttiveen the parties; (2) sufficienonsideration to support the
contract; (3) the plaintiff’'s pgormance or willingness to germ in compliance with the

contract; (4) the defendant’sdach of the contract; and (5)rdage to plaintiff caused by the

8Poc. 267, Ex. C at 36:9-14.

188Doc. 291, Ex. G at 35:6-36:8.

187d. at 35:6-23, 36:9-14.

8% state of Draper v. Bank of An205 P.3d 698, 710 (Kan. 2009).

8Hackman v. W. Agr. Ins. G275 P.3d 73 (Table), 2012 WL 1524060, at *11 (Kan. Ct. App. Apr. 27,
2012).

199\loses v. Halstead81 F.3d 1248, 1251 (10th Cir. 2009) (citi@benn v. Fleming799 P.3d 79, 90
(Kan. 1990)).
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breacht®® Kansas has adopted “thénmiple that the insurer’s duseare contractually based and
then approved a tort standard of caredietermining when the contract duty has been
breached 2

Gant asserts both failure to defend and faitarsettle theories dfability to support his
assigned claims of bad faith/breackcohtract agairidProgressive.

B. Nullification

As a threshold issue, Progressive urges that the terms of the Agreement nullify Gant’s
bad faith/breach of contract claim, which heats as assignee of tBaks in this action.
Although the insurer’s duty runs only to itsured, the Kansas Supreme Court hel@lenn v.
Flemingthat the insured may assign his breacbooitract claim for bad faith or negligent
refusal to settle against the insurance company to anothet{aRyogressive first argues that
the Agreement is not in accord wiBiennbecause the Birk Defendants had already been fully
insulated from any possible liability for any réswg judgment in the underlying lawsuit before
the matter went to trial. Since the Birk Defiants never had even pdiahliability for any
judgment, Progressive arguesyaurported claim thBirk Defendants attempted to assign is
illusory because at the time of the assignment there was simply no damage.

Progressive argues that“typical” casesrought pursuant to @lenn v. Fleming
agreement, the insurer had either wrongfulfused to defend, denied coverage, and/or had
acted in bad faith in failing to accept a settlab@emand within its policy limit. Progressive
contends that in those cast®re is a causal connection betwésnwrongful act of the insurer

and damage to the insured prior to trial. Proguesargues those wrongfactions are absent in

9IP|K Civ. 4th 124.01-A.
192Glenn 799 P.3d at 90
1994, at 90-91 (Kan. 1990).

42



this case, because Progressive accepted coyaragediately offered its policy limit to settle
the claim, and furnished counsel both beforé after commencement of litigation. Since Gant’'s
theory of liability is primarily premised atme alleged litigation nsiconduct and negligence of
McMaster, any purported harm to the Birk Dedants caused by that conduct was eliminated by
the Agreement, which was negotiated byrakys provided to the Birk Defendants by
Progressive.

Progressive’s theory appears to have been rejectgtbim v. Fleminghowever, when
that court considered whether to allow the assigrirnEbad faith claims agnst an insurer. In
Glenn,the court reversed its previous decisiofginson v. Porteholding that such claims are
tort actions and unassignabfé.Glenninvolved an assignment of a pasal verdid against the

insured in excess of policy limit8> The court noted that erof the arguments against

permitting such an assignment was that “bad faith actions are mere contingencies or possibilities

and are not assignable (particularly when thegassent occurs before the injured party obtains
a judgment on his personal injury claimy® The court found this objection unpersuasive and
endorsed findings of other courts tisansidered and rejected the objectioh.
AlthoughGlenndid not involve a pre-judgment settlement between an insured and a third
party, the court approvesf such settlement€® The court addressed the rulingHeinsonthat

an insured had no actual damages because the covextao execute freed him of liability for

94d. (discussingHeinson v. Portgr772P.2d 778 (Kan. 1989)).
199d, at 91.
19§d. at 90.

197d. (citing Critz v. Farmers Ins. Groy®230 Cal. App. 2d 788, 795 (Qipp. 1964)) (rejecting argument
that the insured has no cause of action against his ingutanmpany until such time ag suffers and satisfies a
judgment in excess of the policy limiGray v. Nationwide Mut. Ins.Ca223 A.2d 810 (Pa. 1966) (holding “it is
not necessary for the insured to allege that he has paid or will pay a judgment in excess of the policy limits in an
action against an insurer for breactdaty to act in good faith.”)).

19835ee Assoc. Wholesale Grocers, Inc. v. Americold Co8d.P.2d 65, 81-82 (Kan. 1997).
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the payment of any judgment to the injured p&ttythe court noted that unlikéeinson the
assignment and covenant not to execute incée were entered into after a jury verdict and
thus the amount may be assumed to be realf$tithe court noted that prejudgment covenants
not to execute have been appro¥¥dnd expressed concern over assignments/covenants not to
execute in which the amount of the judgmesigiged has been determined by the agreement of
the parties, because such a settlement “mayepoesent an arm’s length determination of the
value of the plaintiff's claim.2°2 As a “prescription” for thigoncern, it adopted a test requiring
the insurer to show that thetdement is not reasonable and h§k] non-jury verdict judgment
may be enforced against an insurer contingeon proving bad faith or negligence in refusal to
settle. The assignment/covenant not to sue may be utilized if the judgment is reasonable in
amount and entered into in good faitf®”

Although the facts surrounding the settlememet more complex than the “typical”
agreement, it appears that an assignment anchaovaot to execute such as the Agreement here
that was entered prior to a judgmentedmined at trial is in accord witBlenn Progressive’s
argument that the Birks never had potential liabfiityany judgment is nadistinguishable from
the assigned consent judgments discuss&@ldnn as any pre-judgment assignment would
necessarily involve assignment of a claim from an insured who was insulated from execution on
that judgment. And in the context of tBéenn v. Flemingh\greement, Progressive’s argument

that the Birks did not suffer any actual danmsbecause of the pre-judgment Agreement are

19%Glenn 799 P.2d at 91.
200d. at 92.

204d, (citations omitted).
202d. at 92.

2034,
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similarly unavailing?®® Thus, the Court finds Progisive’s nullification argument
unpersuasivé?®

C. Failure to Defend

An insurer’s duty to exercise good faith indes “the duty to hireounsel that is
competent to defend the allegations against itg@asand to provide such counsel with adequate
resources to competently defend the stift.In addition, “there mudte a causal link between
the insurer’s conduct and the egsgudgment against the insuréfl’”Gant claims that
Progressive breached its good faith duty to ni¢fibae Birk Defendants, both directly and
vicariously through the negligenttamns of its agent, McMasteRrogressive argues that the
vicarious liability action coulehot be assigned under the Agrestnand, even if it could, Gant
has failed to come forward wittwvidence to show Progresssieould be deemed vicariously
liable for McMaster’s conduct asnaatter of law. Progressive fudr argues that it did not cause
any damage to the Birk Defendants. Tmurt discusses these issues in turn.

1. Vicarious Liability

a. Assignment

Although it disagrees with Progressive’s gahaullification theoy, the Court does find

Progressive’s related argumentrveants reconsideration. Progressargues that at its essence,

204See Smotherman v. Caswalb. 89-2374-V, 1990 WL 252481, at *1-2 (D. Kan. Nov. 28, 1990)
(applyingGlennin holding that a plaintiff who enters into a covenant not to execute against an insured who is liable
to pay a judgment to the plaintiff is not precluded from garnishing the insurer to colldgnaejot in excess of the
policy limits, even where the language of the covenant not to execute relieves the insured of any liability for
payment of the judgment).

205The Court notes Gant argues that if the assignimennullification, the Agreement is invalid and thus
Gant would take the position that the Agreement was aiihitio for lack of consideration.

208Hackman v. W. Agr. Ins. G®75 P.3d 73 (Table), 2012 WL 1524060, at *11 (Kan. Ct. App. Apr. 27,
2012).

207Roberts v. Printup595 F.3d 1181, 1187 (10th Cir. 2010) (quotievkins v. Dennis905 P.2d 678, 690
(Kan. 1995)).
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Gant’s vicarious liability claim is an impropgrassigned legal malpractice action, in which Gant
seeks to collect an excgasslgment based upon the improper conduct of opposing counsel
McMaster. As Gant notes, this Court previouslected Progressive’s argument raised in the
context of its motion to dismiss Gant's Amended CountercidinBut as Progressive argues,
this case appears to presetegal first brought pursuant t8lenn v. Flemingand the particular
posture of this case is unusual, to sayl¢lst. To resolve thtension, the Cousua sponte
reconsiders its order denying Progress motion to dismiss on this grouff.

As previously discussed, an insured’s acfmmdamages for breach of an insurer’s duty
to defend is contractual in nature. Under Karaas an insurance company has a duty to defend
its insured whenever the undgnig facts suggest even a remm@ossibility of coveragé?

“Inherent within the duty to exeise good faith in hiring independesdunsel is the duty to hire
counsel that is competentdefend the allegations againstilhsured and to provide such
counsel with adequate resourtesompetently defend the suft? TheGlenncourt based its
holding allowing assignments of bad faith andligegt defense actions art because breach
of contract actions are thpersonal to the insurééf Accordingly, the Agreement properly
assigned the Birk Defendants’ bad faith clairaiagt Progressive for failure to provide an
adequate defense in the underlying lawsuite @hestion raised by Progeeve is whether that

assignment is limited to actions of Progresselative to its contraatl good-faith duty to

2085eeDoc. 237 at 10.

20%See Been v. O.K. Indus., 1495 F.3d 1217, 1224-25 (10th Cir. 2007) (explaining “law of the case”
doctrine is discretionary, and that district courts rerfrai@ to reconsider their earlier interlocutory rulings made
before the entry of judgment).

21Hackman 2012 WL 1524060, at *12 (citinGouthgate St. Bank & Trust Co. v. United Pac. Ins,
P.2d 486, 488 (Kan. 1979)).

4.
212799 p.2d 90-91.
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defend, or whether the assignment necessarilydsgt® any claim for vicarious liability based
on actions attributable to retained counsel for its insureds, McMaster.

In its Order denying Progressive’s motiordismiss, the Court jected Progressive’s
brief argument that any claim based on McMastenisduct is actually adgl malpractice claim
and thus unassignable, citiRgcific Employers Insurance Company v. Hoidale Company,
Inc.213 In Hoidalg the court held that amegligence on the part ofdlattorney hired by the
primary insurer to defend the ingd in a personal injy action was attributable to the insurer
for purposes of bad faith in defending the cldtthThe court explainethat the insured sought
to hold the insurer liable for its attorney’sgligence in fulfilling the insurance company’s
contractual duty to defend it in gofaith and with due care; todhextent the attorney’s conduct
did not conform to this standard, the insureuld not claim that it had performed its déty.As
Progressive argueblloidalecan be distinguished, &sid not involve alenn v. Fleming
assignment, but instead was eedt action brought by the excessurer and thensured based
on the primary insurer’s bad faiind/or negligence in handlinige claims made against its
insured?'® Unlike this case, the insuredHtoidale was a party and asserted in conjunction with
its excess carrier that the primary inswgleould pay an excess judgment based on the
malpractice of the lawyer in failing to communicate settlement oftérs.

As Progressive further argues, a review of gaisan v. Flemingase law does not find a

single Kansas case that has sanctioned an assigripy an insured to a third party of a claim

213789 F. Supp. 1117 (D. Kan. 1992).
2M4d. at 1123.

219d.

218d. at 1120.

217d. at 1119.
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predicated upon his own counsel’s deficient performance. For examblackman v. Western
Agricultural Insurance Compard}®the insured, following an adverse verdict, brought a direct
action against her insurer attempting to holddaviously liable for diense counsel’s alleged
negligence because the insurer had hired cotms$elfill its obligationto provide her with a
defense&!® Notably, the plaintiff insured also broughtlirect bad faith claim against the insurer
for breach of its duty to provide a competdatense and a legal malpractice claim against
defense counséf® Like Hoidale, however, the case did not involv&éenn v. Fleming
agreement or assignment of claims by the insured.

Accordingly, the Court reconsiders its pravs ruling and concludeébat Gant’s attempt
to hold Progressive vicariously liable for McMaster’s negligencetisustainable under the
Agreement. The fact that Gant’s bad faith claim is brought uAigmdoes not change the
nature of his allegations, which are presdin McMaster’s ndigent performance or
malpractice; they do not support a failure téeddd cause of action.ndleed, when Progressive
notified McMaster that it was terminating hipresentation, it advisedrh and his law firm to
notify their malpractice carrier. Because Gaattempt to impose liability on Progressive is
based on McMaster’s litigatioronduct, his bad faith claim i) effect, based on vicarious
liability for legal malpractice. Kansas law is clear that claims sounding in legal malpractice are

personal to the client and may not be assigaed[This] policy applies regardless of whether

21875 P.3d 73 (Table), 2012 WL 1524060 (Kan. Ct. App. Apr. 27, 2012).
219d. at *14.
220, at *5, 14.

2215ee Bank IV Wichita v. Arn, Mullins, Unruh, Kuhn & Wils827 P.2d 758, 765 (Kan. 1992) (“Public
policy considerations preclude assignment of legal raatjme claims because suchiois are personal to the
client.”).
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the claims sound in contract or toft? Nothing inGlenn v. Flemingr its progeny sanctions the
assignment of a legal malpractice claim to dveasary in the guise @in insurer bad faith
action, and the Court declines to be the first tmuKansas to expand the law in this manner.

b. Agency

Even if Gant’s vicarious liability claim codlbe assigned, however, the Court finds that
summary judgment for Progressive is warrantechlse Gant has failed to demonstrate material
disputed facts on the issue of whether Pregjue exercised the degree of control over
McMaster’s independent legal judgment sudcikt frogressive should be deemed vicariously
liable for his litigation conduct.

As previously discussed, “Kansas law regsiia@ insurer to provide a defense to an
insured if there is potential for liabilly under the policy??® Where there is a potential excess
exposure to an insured, the insurer has a tubyovide independembunsel whose legal
responsibility is to the insureéd* This common-law duty is also required by the Kansas Rules of
Professional Conduct (“KRPC”)KRPC 1.8(f) provides:

A lawyer shall not accept compensation for representing a client
from one other than the client unless:

(1) the client gives informed consent;
(2) there is no interference with the lawyer’'s independence or
professional judgment or with éhclient-lawyer relationship;

and

information relating to representati of a client if protected as
required by Rule 1.&°

222d.

223Davin v. Athletic Club of Overland Par26 P.3d 687, 690 (Kan. Ct. App. 2004) (citiBigite Farm Fire
& Casualty Co. v. Finneyr70 P.2d 460, 466 (Kan. 1989)).

224patrons Mut. Ins. Ass’'n v. Harmpi32 P.2d 741, 745 (Kan. 198Aselco, Inc. v. Hartford Ins. Groyp
21 P.3d 1011, 1020 (Kan. Ct. App. 2001).

225011 Kan. Ct. R. Annot. 495.
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KRPC 5.4(c) further states, “a lawyer shadt permit a person who recommends, employs, or
pays the lawyer to render legah&ees for another to direct oegulate the lawyer’s professional
judgment in rendering such legal servicé&s.”

The general rule in Kansas is that merehynigi an attorney to repsent an insured will
not make the insurer vicariouslalile for the attorney’s negligent€. Kansas also recognizes,
however, that theteorney-client relationship igrounded in agency principlé€ and that “an
attorney hired by an insurer to represent anrgtbgan be considered an agent of the insured,
making the insurer vicariously lisbfor the attorney’s actions--iat the time in question, the
attorney’s acts or omissions were disgttcommanded, or knowingly authorized by the
insurer.?2% “When there are facts to demonstratat the attorney violated these rules and
allowed the insurer to direct or control thteoeney’s actions in defeling the insured, the
attorney likely will be considered the agent af thsured and, in turn, the insurer may be held
vicariously liable for the attorney’s negligent conduiéf.”

Here, there is no material evidence from vahacjury could conclude that Progressive
exercised this degree ofrdction or control over McMser’s legal judgment—or
correspondingly, that McMastell@ved his legal judgment to be compromised or influenced by

Progressive—in litigating the underlying Birk LawitsuThere is no evidence that Progressive

226011 Kan. Ct. R. Annot. 593.

22"Pac. Emp’rs Ins. Co. v. P.B. Hoidale Co., Irt89 F. Supp. 1117, 1122 (D. Kan. 1992) (cifBedl v.
Tilton, 674 P.2d 468 (Kan. 1983)).

228d. (citing Prof'l Serv. Indus. v. Kimbrellf58 F. Supp. 676, 681 (D. Kan. 1991)).

22Hackman v. W. Agr. Ins. C@75 P.3d 73 (Table), 2012 WL 1524060, at *16 (cititajdale, 789 F.
Supp. at 1122)xee Bell v. Tilton674 P.2d 468, 472 (Kan. 1983) (“The mere fact an insurance company retains an
attorney to represent an insured against a lawsuitrduiesean the attorney issalthe insurance company’s
attorney capable of bindirthe insurance company.”).

2394, (citing Bell, 674 P.2d at 472).
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placed limitations, financial or otherwise, on McMaster’s authority to marshal a defense, and
there is no evidence that Progressilirected McMaster to utde a particular method or strategy
in defending the Birks.

It is undisputed that McMaster had sigeéfint communication with the Birks as well as
their personal counsel, Campbell. Both McMaatret Edward Birk testifie that McMaster kept
the Birks apprised of material/ents in the litigation. Thels no evidence that Progressive
controlled or influenced McMastertiefense strategy in his repretgion of the Birks. Instead,
McMaster testified that he devid¢he legal strategies usedtlive case. Similarly, Progressive
adjuster Hansel testified he deféo counsel on matters of legalategy. Nor is there evidence
that the Birks were mere specte to the proceeding, binstead, that they actively participated
in the defense and that McMaster provideddéfense they desired. There is no evidence that
Progressive and McMaster mullyaadopted a course of condwstiggesting that counsel’s first
allegiance was to the insurance company that hired him, rather than the insured client. In fact,
the record shows the Birks wanted McMasterdntinue as their counsel even after issues were
raised about his conduct; it wast until after execution of the Agreement in May 2015 that
Progressive terminated McMastand stepped in to dict the defense at trial.

Gant cites Progressivelefense Counsel Guidelineseasdence of Progressive’s level
of control over McMaster. Those GuidelinBswever, begin and end with disclaimers that
explicitly state: “Progressivexpects counsel to exercise ipdadent professional judgment in
rendering legal services to Progiee insureds. Counsel shouever allow anything contained
in these guidelines to interkewith any ethical directive abligation governing conduct of
defense counsel.” Gant cites Guidelines thaiire defense counsel $eek authorization for

retaining an expert or for sigigant legal research, and thatjuire defense counsel to keep
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Progressive apprised about digery and progress of the cas&/hile these examples may
establish a level of economic scnytiby Progressive to assure tokims are being handled in a
cost-effective manner, they fathart of establishing asal control over McMster’s independent
legal judgment and decision-making. In fact, Pesgive paid McMaster approximately 97% of
the bills submitted in the Birk Lawsuit, and did not deny McMaster any requests for expenses
made to assist in his defense of the Birks.

Moreover, McMaster testified that he does aldw the Guidelines to dictate his actions
in defense of Progressive’s imeds and specifically did not do sohis representation of the
Birks. McMaster testified that even whenneguests approval froProgressive, he does not
wait for a response before going ahead and peanfgy the work. McMaster further testified
that, even if Progressive dedithto approve a particular expse or task, which did not happen
in this case, McMaster would still do what heideed necessary to defend the Birks despite any
lack of approval. Accordinglyhe Court finds that Gant’s efficto use the Guidelines to
establish the level of control necessary to sugmervicarious liability theory is belied by what
McMaster actually did in his defense of thel8i The record demonstrates that McMaster
defended the Birks pursuant to a litigation strategy that he alone developed and implemented
without direction or control by Progressive.

Finally, Gant argues th&rogressive controlled McMasthy its ratification of his
conduct. “Ratification is thedmption or confirmation by a prinzal of an act performed on his
behalf by an agent which act was performed without authdfty“The doctrine of ratification

is based upon the assumption that there bBas ho prior authority ral ratification by the

ZIC.T. v. Liberal Sch. Dist562 F. Supp. 2d 1324, 1344 (D. Kan. 2008) (ciSebraft v. Leis686 P.2d
865, 874 (Kan. 1984)).
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principal of the agent’s unauthorized actdsi@alent to an original grant of authorits??
“Once the principal discovers the agent’s unautteatiact, the principal must promptly repudiate
the act or the court will presume the principal ratified the ZétGant’s invocation of this
doctrine is unavailing, as ratifigah requires the existence of agency relationship, which the
Court has rejected.

c. Judicial Estoppel and Admissions

In the face of this steep applicable legahdtd for holding an insurer vicariously liable,
Gant contends that the doctrirefgudicial estoppel and/or glicial admissions apply in this
circumstance to preclude Progressive from dewying what it openly admitted to this Court:
that as an employer of McMaster, it had the rightontrol him in litigation and thus he acted as
Progressive’s agent. Gant’s claim is without mfit.

i. Judicial Estoppel

“Judicial estoppel is an equitable remedy desigieeprotect the intgrity of the judicial
process by prohibiting parties from deliberatetyanging positions according to the exigencies
of the moment.”?3% “The burden falls on the moving pattyshow the need for its application—
a difficult task given ‘our relueince to impose the harsh remed?®"The Tenth Circuit views
the doctrine as a “powerful weapon” to bed®nly when “less forceful remedies are

inadequate,” and therefore apglié “both narrowly and cautiousiy>”

232d. (citing Town Center Shopping Ctr., LLC v. Premier Mtg. Funding, 148 P.3d 565, 571 (Kan. Ct.
App. 2006)).

23d.

23Gant stresses that he is seeking partial summary judgment on his vicarious liability claim only, and that
his claim based on Progressive’s dirgability for failure to defend is based on its own actions and omissions.

Z®Asarco, LLC v. Noranda Mining, In8B44 F.3d 1201, 1207 (10th Cir. 2017) (quotheyv Hampshire v.
Maine 532 U.S. 742, 749-50 (2001) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted)).

239d. (quotingVehicle Mkt. Research, Inc. v. Mitchell Int'l, Ing67 F.3d 987, 988 (10th Cir. 2014)).
237d. at 1207-08 (quotinglansen v. Harper Excavating, In641 F.3d 1216, 1227 (10th Cir. 2011)
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The Supreme Court has identdithree factors to be consied in determining whether
to apply the doctrine: (1) whetha party takes a position that is “clearly inconsistent” with its
earlier position; (2) whether adopting the lgiesition would create the impression that “either
the first or the second court was misled”; #éBpwhether allowing the party to change its
position would give it “an unfaiadvantage or impose an unfair detriment on the opposing party
if not estopped?8

Gant argues that statements made by Preigees its motions to intervene in the
underlying Gant lawsuit and tiaster Machinerycase “bind” Progressivi® its position that it
had the right to control both the litigati and McMaster. Because Progressive has
unequivocally admitted to having the right to cohiMicMaster in litigation, Gant argues, this
Court should conclude that Mclgizr acted as Progressive’saty The Court disagrees.

The Court finds that Gant has not metthusden of showing thdhe judicial estoppel
factors are met in this case. First, Progressipestion in this case is not “clearly inconsistent”
with the position articulated in its motions to inteme. Those statements must be considered in
context, as they were made on a limited bigisésn effort to remove McMaster from ongoing
litigation matters after the Birk Defendants had executedgneement insulating them from
exposure. While there is no digp that Progressive asseriebas the ultimate authority to
remove defense counsel, the issue presentbrdéhe Court involve whether Progressive
exercised the necessary level of control oveMester such that his independent professional
judgment was compromised in his defense of tiik Befendants. The Tenth Circuit “has set a

high bar for estoppel proponents seeking to stiatitwo positions are clearly inconsistefi.”

(citation omitted)).
238New Hampshirg532 U.S. at 750-5%ge also Hanse641 F.3d at 1227.
239 S. v. Supreme Ct. ofM., 839 F.3d 888, 911 (10th Cir. 2016) (citighicle Mkt. Resear¢i67 F.3d
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The Tenth Circuit requires a “narrow and causiapproach” to this issue, and “[iJf the
statements can be reconciled thenedsoccasion to apply an estopp&L”A party’s “facially
inconsistent” arguments are not glganconsistent where there is “a factual basis in the record
for distinguishing the argument&**

As the Court reads it, the substance of R¥sgjre’s argument before the trial court and
before this Court are not cleaihyconsistent. In this case,d@ressive arguesdhit is not
vicariously liable for the alleged misconduct orlpnactice of McMaster in his representation of
the Birk Defendants. As previously discu$sBrogressive’s legal pition is premised on
Kansas law that holds that an insurance a@mgpgnay only be vicariously liable for litigation
conduct or malpractice of defense couns#iéfinsurance company has exercised an unusual
and unethical level of control over defermseinsel’s independent legal judgment.Gant v.

Birk andMaster MachineryProgressive asserted its right to fire defense counsel retained on
behalf of its insureds in ordéo transition the case from Mclgr to other counsel after he
refused Progressive’s requesttthe withdraw and after thigirk Defendants had executed the
Agreement with Gant. Gant argues thatstegements in the Motion to Intervene that
Progressive had the first rigtat control litigation, to employ counsel, and to control the
litigation meet the test for agency under Kanseas Vahether the principal Isathe “right to direct
and control” the agent’s activitié® While that may be the general standard for agency,
however, it is not the heightened standardafpency employed when determining whether to

hold an insurer vicariousljable for the conduct of counsektaeed for its insured. Nothing in

at 944-96Ellis v. Ark. La. Gas Co609 F.2d 436, 440 (10th Cir. 1979)).
249d. (citing Banclnsure, Inc. v. FDIC796 F.3d 1226, 1240 (10th Cir. 2015)).
244d. (quotingU.S. v. Apple, Ing.791 F.3d 290, 337 (2d Cir. 2015)).

242See Hoidalg789 F. Supp. at 1122 (quotiBginkley v. Farmers Elevator Mut. Ins. Cd85 F.2d 1283,
1286 (10th Cir. 1973)).
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Progressive’s motions to intervene suggestPnagressive took the position that McMaster was
its agent or that it, in factontrolled McMaster’s independedegal judgment in his defense of
the Birk Defendants. Instead, the factualifpmss asserted by Progressive suggest the
opposite—that Progressive had learned the extahieafanctions and other rulings in the Birk
Lawsuit that made it appear that the trial court had lost confidence in McMaster, and that as a
result of this misconduct it had terminated Mddta from its panel of defense counsel.

Second, neither court {Bant v. Birkor Master Machinerever ruled upon or was
persuaded to adopt any factpakition articulated in Progressis motions, as Progressive
withdrew its motions in both cas after McMaster voluntarilyithdrew. Gant argues that
because McMaster withdrew from the cases, the motions to intervene should be deemed
successful because Progressive obtained the itsli@btions to intervene sought to achieve.
The Court disagrees, as such an applicationla&vimproperly expand the Tenth Circuit’s limited
application of this doctrine. Similarly, evérthe Court accepted Gastposition, neither this
Court nor the trial court appetr have been misled by Progséve, as the issue of whether
McMaster was Progressive’s agent wagenen issue before the trial court.

Finally, allowing Progressive tassert that McMaster was not its agent in this litigation
will not allow Progressive an unfair advantage.ntG#d not rely to his detriment on any factual
assertion in Progressive’s Motionltitervene in the Birk Lawsuit, as that motion was filed after
the Agreement was executed and was ancillatiggassues brought bydlparties at trial.

Neither party should be allowéd circumvent its burden of proof on the issue of whether
Progressive is vicarialy liable for McMaster’s conductBecause the matter Gant claims was

admitted is a proposition of law, the doctrine is not applicéBle.

24Brecek & Young Adv'rs, Inc. idoyds of London Synd. 20080. 09-2516-JAR, 2011 WL 1060955, at
*7 (D. Kan. Mar. 21, 2011) (citinglarrington v. City of Nashuya10 F.3d 24, 31 (1st Cir. 2010)) (“legal
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il. Judicial Admissions

“Judicial admissions are ‘formal admissiamsich a party or his attorney makes in a
judicial proceeding for the purposédispensing with proof of forad matters or of facts about
which there is no real disputé** The alleged admission cited Bant is a block citation of
Kansas law concerning an insuraraompany’s right to hé or fire defenseounsel retained for
its insured€*® Because the matter Gant claims wasigtdohis a proposition of law, the doctrine
is not applicablé?® Moreover, judicial admissiomaust be “deliberate and cle&t” By
arguing that it had the right to control the Birawsuit by terminating McMaster, there is no
indication that Progressive wasaking any deliberate admission of fact as to whether McMaster
was acting as its agent for purposes of a claimaafrious liability fa his litigation conduct,
which was not an issue in the underlying trial.

Because the Court declines to apply judiciégel or judicial admission to these facts,
Gant’s motion for partial summarydgment is denied on this isst&.Progressive’s motion for

summary judgment on Gant’s vicarious liability claim is grarféd.

conclusions are rarely considered to be binding judicial admissions”) (internal quotation omnitted)eleglobe
Comm. Corp.493 F.3d 345, 377 (3d Cir. 2007) (holding judicial admissions “must be statement of fact tiat requ
evidentiary proof, not statements of legal theories”)).

24psarco, LLC v. Noranda Mining, In844 F.3d 1201, 1212 n.3 (10th Cir. 2017) (quotihg. Energy
Corp. v. Nukem, Inc400 F.3d 822, 833 n.4 (10th Cir. 2005)).

243eeDoc. 263, Ex. 5.
24Brecek 2011 WL 1060955, at *7.

247| d

248Gant also seeks partial summary judgment baseddiciglestoppel and adssions on the issues of
breach and causation, both of which are predicated on his theory that Progressive is vicabtaigty lia
McMaster’s litigation conduct. Because the Court haglratginst Gant on the vicarious liability/agency issue, it
does not reach these issues.

249Because the Court has determined that Gant hanwt forward with evience to establish that
Progressive is vicariously liable for McMaster’s conduct as alleged above, it does not reach the issue of whether
Gant has presented evidence that McMaster's negkgeaused the $6.7 million excess policy verdict to be
assessed against the Birks in the underlying lawsuit. The Gotes that Gant focuses on three rulings made by the
trial court broadly characterized asisdons against McMaster that he gts harmed the Birks: the deemed
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2. Direct Liability

Gant also claims that Progressive affirmatively engaged in conduct constituting a breach
of its duty to provide a defense. Gant asstivat Progressive failed to provide competent
counsel, failed to appreciate andlict of interest and providgeparate counsel for the Birks,
failed to monitor McMaster, and otherwise aategjligently and in bad faith in defending the
Birk Lawsuit?®° It also appears that Gant asserttaan for negligent hiring and supervisiéh.
Gant contends that McMaster’s reputation abstreperous lawyer was well known, both before
and during the Birk Lawsuit, and Progressikeew what it was getting into with Mr.
McMaster.”®>2 Progressive does not move for sumyrjadgment on this specific claim, but
argues generally that Gant’s breach of contcéa fails as a matter of law because Gant
cannot show any damage to the Birk Defensl@aatused by any breach by Progressive, and in
particular cannot show a connection betwnconduct of Progressive and the $6.7 million
damage judgment sought by G&tit.

The record and argument before tBourt indicate that Gantdaim is without merit. As
previously discussed, “[ijnherentithin the duty to exercisgood faith in hiring independent
counsel is the duty to hire coungleht is competent to defencethllegations against its insured

and to provide such counsel with adequassurces to competently defend the siift.In

admitted Requests for Admission; the stricken cell phone expert; and the reverse alter-ego darogressive
argues that the trial court’s judgmentd award was not caused by any conduct of McMaster but instead was linked
to the court’s careful evaluation of the “objective evidence” at trial. As noted below, the Court has directed
supplemental briefing on the issue of Gant’s claim against Progressive based on its own dutiogsMitMaster;
to the extent there is any overlap w@lant's causation arguments, the Court defers any further analysis of this issue
until the parties have submitted their briefs.

2PDoc. 263 at 39 n.6; Doc. 281 at 154.

251Doc. 281 at 170.

252d. at 147.

25Doc. 278 at 71-74.

2544ackman v. W. Agr. Ins. G275 P.3d 73 (Table), 2012 WL 1524060, at *11 (Kan. Ct. App. Apr. 27,
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Hackman the insured claimed that its insurer breakctie duty to adequately defend its insured
based, in part, on the insurer’s knowledge thatatwyer had been sanctied in other cases, had
previously been removed from the insurer’s pafi@pproved counsel, and had been sued for
legal malpractice by the insurer in the Fa3tThe court found that even if these accusations
were true, such information and whether it wasimunicated to the insured was “immaterial to
the issue of whether [the insdrereached its duty to provideer with a competent defense in
this case ®® Similarly, it appears that it is immatertal this case whether Progressive had prior
knowledge that opposing counselaither cases found McMasteffdiult to work with, and
there is no evidence that Progressive’s insuiretisose cases sustained any excess exposure.
Nor does the record contain any facts fromahtt could be inferred that, other than the
personal monetary sanctions, Progressive waseaof specific sananable conduct occurring
in the underlying Birk Lawsuit until Februa®p15, when it took actioto retain additional
counsel and ultimately terminate McMaster frima Birk Lawsuit and Progressive’s panel of
counsel.

With respect to the alleged conflict of intstethe Birks filed a written waiver; after the
alter ego sanction, Progressive ne¢a individual counsel for thiedividual Birks and for Birk
Oil. Thus, it appears that Gant has faileddame forward with evidence to establish that
Progressive breached the duty to adequatetgnd the Birks as its insureds.

Gant must also prove that there is a calisklbetween the Progressive’s conduct and the

excess judgment against the insuf€dwith respect to the causal relationship requirement,

2012).
255, at *12.
25, at *13-14.
257Hawkins v. Dennis905 P.2d 678, 690 (Kan. 1995).
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however, it appears Gant’'s argument is limitedrtoonflated with the harm allegedly caused by
the conduct of McMastenot Progressive.

Further, Kansas recognizes that negligenbgiand retention orupervision are separate
and distinct torts from respondeat supeftdrLiability for negligenthiring, retention, and/or
supervision is not predicated omhaory of vicarious liability, buinstead, liability runs directly
from the employer to the person injuréd.“The employer is negligent in hiring or retaining
such an employee when the employer knew or should have known of the employee’s
incompetence or unfitnes$® It is clear, however, thatroclaims will not lie under Kansas
law, as “[tlhe Kansas Supreme Court has explicgjgcted the contention that the failure of an
insured to meet its conttwal duties can give rige a claim of negligence?® To the extent
Gant is asserting an independelatim for negligent hiring orupervision, such claim sounds in
tort and is not assignable under Kansas&w.

Because Progressive did not move for samynudgment on this specific claim,
however, out of an abundance of caution, Gaantgled to “notice and a reasonable time to
respond” before the Court may grant summary judgment on this @iaAccordingly, the

Court directs further briefing on the direct liiily and negligent hiring/supervision claim,

258Mliller v. Dillard’s Inc., 47 F. Supp. 2d 1294, 1299 (D. Kan. 1999) (citMayquis v. State Farm Fire &
Cas. C0.961 P.2d 1213, 1223 (Kan. 1998)).

25Beam v. Concord Hosp., In&73 F. Supp. 491, 503 (D. Kan. 1994).
260_owe v. Surpas Res. Cor253 F. Supp. 2d 1209, 1245 (D. Kan. 2003).

263Wade v. EMCASCO Ins. Cdo. 03-1276-JTM, 2004 WL 5550384, at *12 (D. Kan. Dec. 29, 2004),
aff'd, 483 F.3d 657 (10th Cir. 2007) (citation omitted).

262Bplz v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. C62 P.3d 898, 901 (Kan. 2002) (collecting cases).

26%Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(f)(2)feran v. GB Int'l, S.p.A652 F. App’x 660, 669, n.10 (10th Cir. 2016pward
v. Jabe 474 F. App’x 961, 963 (4th Cir. 2012) (“After giving notice and a reasonable time to respond, the district
court may grant a motion for summary judgment on grounds not raised by a party.”).
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including specific discussion andaysis of Progressive’s duty tefend, its alleged breach, and
causal link between Progressive’s cortcarad damages to the Birks.

D. Failure to Settle

Gant’s second bad faith/breach of contthebry is that Progressive affirmatively
engaged in conduct that constitutes a breacts afuty to negotiate a settlement. Established
Kansas law holds that an insurance companygsigeent or bad faith rejection of an injured
party’s offer to settle within the policy’s limitsonstitutes a breach $é contract with the
insured and gives rise to liability fany judgment in excess of the policy linité. The same
rule applies to instances in which the insuracmmpany negligently or ibad faith delays in
accepting an offer to settle within the policy’s linfi8. Further, “there must be a causal link
between the insurer’s nduct and the excess judgment against the inséfedrhus, a so-called
“failure to settle” claim necessly involves (1) a demand or othepportunity tosettle within
the insurance policy limit by theaimant; and (2) a wrongful refusal of such an offer or an
unreasonable delay in accepting such dffér.

Here, it is undisputed th&ant never made a demand for an amount within the $250,000
Progressive Policy limit. s also undisputed that, nddéa than August 2011, approximately
two months after the accidefirogressive offered its full $250,000 policy limit to Gant, which
Gant rejected. Nevertheless, Gant maintaifaslare to settle claim premised upon the theory

that Progressive failed to settle the claimda amount within anber insurer’s policy limit—

2645ee Wade v. EMCASCO Ins. 383 F.3d 657, 660 (10th Cir. 2007) (citiBgllinger v. Nuss449 P.2d
502, 508 (1969)).

265See idat 667 (citingGlenn 799 P.2d at 82).

266Roberts v. Printup595 F.3d 1181, 1187 (10th Cir. 201quotingHawkins v. Dennis905 P.2d 678, 690
(Kan. 1995) (citingSnodgrass v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins.,804 P.2d 1012, 1021 (Kan. Ct. App. 1991)).

26'Kemp v. HudginsNo. 12-2739-JAR, 2015 WL 5568082, at *14 (D. Kan. Sept. 22, 2015).
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specifically, the $1 million liability limit provide by the Bitco Policy to Birk Oil. Gant
contends that Progressive hadudy to discover and disclosdditional insurance coverage and
that there is a question of mas fact as to whether the case would have settled for $1.25
million had Progressive put Bitco on notice of #ueident that implicated Bitco’s Policy. Such
a settlement, Gant argues, would have s#évedirk Defendants from the excess policy
judgment.

Gant’s attempt to expand the scope of settled Kansas law concerning an insurer’s failure
to settle is without merit. G cites no Kansas authority fortiproposition that an insurer has
an affirmative duty to inquire of its insuredaut insurance policies issd by other carriers to
different named insureds. Gant’s citatioritte general duty of ansurer to undertake an
adequate investigation of a claim is addresseddnsas courts in connection with an insurer’s
investigation of the factsf a particular loss, in order tot@emine the strength of the evidence
against its insured on the subject of liabift§.In this case, it is unsputed that Progressive
offered its full $250,000 policy limit to Gant as a reslits initial investigtion of Justin Birk’s
liability.

The cases Gant cites from Montana andyOneas supporting his theory are misleading
and inapposite. In both cases, the inshreught suit for “equitable contribution” against a
second insurer that also issued a policy thatrealva particular loss, seeking contribution for a
prior settlement paid by the first insufét. As Progressive notes, these decisions hold that when

an insurer seeks contribution tawa prior settlement from ansured or another insurer that

263\ade 483 F.3d at 666—67 (discussing factor for consideration of bad faith claim as “failure of the
insurer to properly investigate theaimstances so as to ascertain the evidence against the insured”).

269%See Cas. Indem. Exch. Ins. Co. v. Liberty Nat'l Fire Ins, @2 F. Supp. 1235, 1240 (D. Mont. 1995);
Am. Star Ins. Co. v. Allstate Ins. C608 P.2d 244, 250 (Or. Ct. App. 1973).
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also provides coverage for a loss, the insuremaat has a duty to inquire as to other available
insurance and effectuataender of the claim tory other involved insured? In this case,
Progressive has not assela claim for equitable contributidrom Bitco, the Birks, or any other
party, and accordingly, the duty dissed in these cases is ngpléicable. Gant has failed to
cite, nor could this Court find, a single Kansas case supporting his thabgn insurer has a
duty to its insured to place an entirely sepacarrier, which insures a different insured, on
notice of a claim.

Undeterred, Gant argues that Progressiveahduty to investigate because there was an
“impediment to settlement,” namely, attorneykins’ concern that nall insurance coverage
was being disclosed to him, and suggests thatr®ssiye’s failure to adequately respond to his
inquiries resulted in delay in tendering thaiel to Bitco. By that time frame, however,
McMaster had been retained as counsel foimtgreds and Progressiuaderstood that he was
placing all insurance carriers antice. In May 2013, McMasteadvised Hansel that he had
reviewed the insurance coveramailable to the Birks witkheir personal counsel and
determined that the Progressive Policy proditlee only coverage. Ehe is nothing in the
record to show that Progressive was awartb@Bitco Policy prior to the Birk Defendants
producing it in discovery in Fguary 2014. Gant’s argument effectively seeks to hold
Progressive responsible for miscovering insurance thttte Birk Defendants, through
McMaster, failed to disclose. Likewise, Gardigument fails to addred.ykins’ testimony that
the claim would not have settled without Jugirk’s affidavit of assets and no insurance and
without a personal contribution by the Birks.

Even if this Court were to accept Gant’s thethat Progressive had a duty to discover

21%Cas. Indem. Exch902 F. Supp. at 123Am Star Ins.508 P.2d at 250.
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the Bitco Policy, and assuming Bitco would hafered the $1 million policy limit to Gant at

that time, the uncontroverted evidence showsethe&rs no opportunity teettle the claim for

$1.25 million. In order to prove a claim for failui@settle within the Progressive/Bitco policy
limits, Gant must “come forward with evidencerfr which a legitimate inference could be made
that [the parties] would have reached an agesgno settle the underlying . . . claims for an
ascertainable amount less ththa judgment rendered™ Here, Gant testified that he “couldn’t
say either way” if there was ewva time he would have settled for $1.25 million. Later, on cross-
examination, Gant agreed he “more likely timat’ would have acceptehll.25 million to settle

the case.

Moreover, further actions taken by Gant &mlcounsel indicate Gant would not have
settled for $1.25 million. Gant’s counsel Lykivelued the claim at $5 to 10 million; subsequent
counsel alleged damages of $80lion, later demanded $15 million at mediation, then requested
$15 million at trial. Lykins testified heauld not have recommended the case settle for $1.25
million without a personal contribution from therBs. After the Bitco Policy was disclosed in
February 2014, neither Gant rfas counsel tendered the claimBitco or made a demand for
the $1 million policy limit. This evidence, coupled with Gant’s equivocal testimony, does not
create a material questioffact on this issue.

Accordingly, Progressive is entitled tonsmary judgment on Gant’s failure to settle

claim?’?

2""Hackman 2012 WL 1524060, at *10.

22The Court does not reach Progressive’s argumantiile excess judgment was caused by Gant's
rejection of policy limit offers in order to “set up” a badttieclaim. The Court notes, however, that this is does not
appear to be a typical set up scenario, as there isighenee that Gant’s motive in rejecting the original policy
limits offer was in order to manufactua bad faith claim. When Gant regtthe $1.25 million policy limits offer
at mediation in 2015, the bases for his bad faith claim had transpired. $hertigfter, Gant accepted that amount
in connection with the Agreement that the Birks executéldeatirging of counsel provided by Progressive for the
stated purpose to “expedite” Gant’s prosecution of the bad faith claim assigned by the Birks wialstéledhs
still counsel of record, but after Progressive had talepsgb terminate his representation based on his litigation
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED BY THE COURT that Defendant/Counterclaim
Plaintiff Gabriel Gant’sViotion for Partial Summaryudgment (Doc. 262) denied;
Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendamrogressive’s Motin for Summary Judgmeéon its claim for
Declaratory Relief and Gant’s Aended Counterclaim (Doc. 266)gsanted in part with
respect to Gant’s vicarious liability claim and failure to settle cfim;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Gant is directed tdld a supplemental brief within
fourteen (14)days of entry of this Order, statindiwsummary judgmentsuld not be granted
to Progressive with respect to Gant’s diregdwh of duty to defend claim as set forth above;
Progressive shall hafeurteen (14)days from the date of Gantsief to file a reply. The
parties’ briefs shall be limited taventy (20) pages In the interim, the case shall be removed
from the September 11, 2018 trial calendar, pendeview of the supplemental submissions.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: July 19, 2018
S/ Julie A. Robinson

JULIEA. ROBINSON
CHIEF UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

conduct. Cf. Wade v. EMCASCO Ins. Cd83 F.3d 657 (10th Cir. 200emp v. Hudginsl33 F. Supp. 3d 1271,
1296 (D. Kan. 2015).

213The Court’s entry of summary judgment in favoiPobgressive will render the pending motions to strike
the parties’ respective experts moot; the Court detdirsg on these motions until final judgment is entered.
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